
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call David Penrose, Governance Services on 
01432 383690 or e-mail dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 

Date: Tuesday 15 September 2015 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: Committee Room 1, The Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, 
Hereford, HR1 2HX 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

David Penrose, Governance Services 
Tel: 01432 383690 
Email: dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor PM Morgan  Herefordshire Council 
Vice-Chairman Diane Jones MBE  Clinical Commissioning Group 
   
 Councillor JG Lester Herefordshire Council 
 

 Jo-anne Alner NHS England 
 Jacqui Bremner Healthwatch representative - Carers Support 
 Jo Davidson Director for Children's Wellbeing 
 Paul Deneen Healthwatch Herefordshire 
 Martin Samuels Director of Adults Wellbeing 
 Prof Rod Thomson Director of Public Health 
 Dr Andy Watts Clinical Commissioning Group 
 Jo Whitehead Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  15 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 

 

AGENDA  
 Pages 
PUBLICINFORMATION 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place 
of a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interests of interest by Members in respect of 
items on the Agenda. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

7 - 10 

 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2015. 
 

 

5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To receive questions from Members of the Public relating to matters within 
the Board’s Terms of Reference. 
 
(Questions must be submitted by midday eight clear working days before the day of 
the meeting (ie on the Wednesday 13 calendar days before a meeting to be held on 
a Tuesday.)) 
 

 

 

6. SAFEGUARDING ADULTS - PROGRESS REPORT 
 

 

 To receive a progress report on Safeguarding Adults. 
 

 

7. SYSTEM WIDE TRANSFORMATION 
 

 

 To receive a report on the Systems Wide Transformation Programme. 
 

 

8. NHS HEREFORDSHIRE HEREFORD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS 2016/17 
 

11 - 36 

 To outline to the Board the context and constraints that are impacting on the 
development of NHS Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
Commissioning Intentions, the delivery against previous years stated 
intentions, the process being undertaken in the development of this year’s 
intentions and plans, including ensuring alignment with Herefordshire’s Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy; and key priorities and intentions for 2016/17. 
 

 

9. CARE ACT IMPLEMENTATION 
 

 

 To receive a report on the implementation of the Care Act. 
 

 

10. BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) SUBMISSION UPDATE 
 

 

 To receive a report on the Better Care Fund (BCF) Submission Update. 
 

 

11. HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD DEVELOPMENT DAY - UPDATE 
 

 

 To receive a report on the recent Health & Wellbeing Board Development 
Day. 
 

 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  15 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 

 

12. ITEM FOR INFORMATION 
 

37 - 94 

 To note the Public Health Grant Consultation Response 2015/2016, for 
information. 
 

 

13. WORK PROGRAMME 
 

95 - 98 

 To note the Work Programme. 
 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 
to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage).  Agenda can be found at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

• Please note that filming, photography and recording of meetings is permitted provided 
that it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

 
• The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 

reporting to ensure that they comply. 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

 
 

SHIRE HALL, ST PETER’S SQUARE, HEREFORD, HR1 2HX. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through 
the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to the Assembly Point which is 
located in the car park at the front of the building.  A check will 
be undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have 
vacated the building following which further instructions will be 
given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or 
returning to collect coats or other personal belongings. 

 

6



 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held at 
Committee Room 1, Shire Hall, Hereford on Tuesday 21 July 2015 
at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Mrs D Jones MBE (Vice Chairman in the Chair) 
   
 Members: Ms J Alner, Ms H Braund, Ms J Bremner, Ms H Coombes, 

Mrs J Davidson, Mr P Deneen, Councillor JG Lester, Prof Rod Thomson and 
Dr A Watts  

 
  
In attendance: Councillor PA Andrews 
  
   
14. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies were received from Councillor PM Morgan and Mrs J Whitehead. 
 

15. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)   
 
None. 
 

16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
None. 
 

17. MINUTES   
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on the 17 June 2015 were approved and signed as a correct 
record. 
 

18. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 
None. 
 

19. UNDERSTANDING HEREFORDSHIRE - JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2015   
 
The Board received a report on Understanding Herefordshire – the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.   The document provided a single integrated assessment of health and 
wellbeing needs of the people of Herefordshire and meet the statutory requirement to 
produce a joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) to inform corporate business planning 
and commissioning intentions across the council. 
 
In the ensuing discussion, the following points were made: 
 
That there were three key areas within the document that should be regularly considered: 
Children’s Services, Adult Social Care and Economic Growth.  These were particularly 
important as there were different populations moving into the county. 
 
That the economy of farming and tourism were areas where clearer data would be helpful, 
especially that of the patterns of work and employment in these areas.  Farming communities 
were unlikely to claim for free school meals which had a knock on effect on school funding.   
 

AGENDA ITEM 4

7



 

 

That it was an important part of community resilience planning for vulnerable 
communities such as the care home sector in the case of power cuts. 
 
Resolved: the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ‘Understanding Herefordshire’ 
Report be approved 
 
 

20. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN 2015-2018   
 
The Board received the Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18.  The Children and 
Young People’s Partnership had been tasked by the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
develop the Plan, which reflected the priorities that had previously been agreed by the 
Board and had been set out in the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis, the Children’s 
Integrated Needs Analysis and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  Partner Agencies 
would also need to approve the plan. 

In the ensuing discussion, the following points were made: 

• That this was a useful document that could be referenced by other organisations.  
One of the challenges would be how the health strategy for a systems wide 
approach should be tied into the plan. 

• It was suggested that the plan be shared with school governing bodies to help them 
consider ways of being involved in some of the preventative work. Consideration 
should also be given to the contracts for health visitors and school nurses in order to 
ensure their involvement. 

• That financial support was available from Sport England. 

• That there was a significant variation in suicide rates as a result of childhood 
experiences, and that the Plan appeared to lack a singular message in the area of 
life experiences and the impact of health and diet. 

• That there had been insufficient work with children and young people in the 
safeguarding and mental health areas up to this point, but that there would be 
positive movement by January. 

Resolved:  that the Board approve the Children’s and Young People’s Plan. 

 
21. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES INTEGRATED PATHWAY   

 
The Board received a presentation on a project to develop a joint, integrated, all age 
pathway for mental health services based around the needs of the population and the 
outcomes they required.  During the presentation, the following issues were highlighted: 
 
• That the catalyst for the work had been the imminent expiration of the existing 

provider contract, which offered the opportunity to reconfigure service as part of an 
integrated pathway. 
 

• The project had been set up and there was a target contract completion date of 
30th September 2016 and target contract commencement date of 1st April 2017. 
  

• There would be an extension to the current contract with 2Gether NHS Foundation 
NHS Trust to allow the time to develop the joint mental health services 
specification with Herefordshire Council. As a result of the first workshop, 
employment, education and housing were being included as part of the pathway 
model. The next workshop to be held would consider the scope of the review. 

8



 

 

 

• Artificial boundaries existed with the commissioning of services, and service users 
would benefit by the removal of duplication and commissioners from a reduction in 
waste in the system.  
 

• That spend on mental health was £25m, and that once the scope had been 
finalised, the budget for the service would be set. 

 
The Director of Adult Wellbeing pointed out that as Mental Health was the main priority 
for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Board would need to be assured that the 
approach laid out in the pathway would deliver the appropriate outcomes. 
 
Dr Watts said that there were gaps in service provision at the moment and difficult 
decisions might have to be made in areas of the pathway in order to address these. 
 
It was suggested that milestones toward achievement be provided for the Board until 
April 2017. 
 
 
Resolved:  
 
That  
 

a) The report be noted;  
 

b) That the Communications Plan be organised through the Engagement 
Gateway in order to involve communication leads; and;  
 

c) An updated report be bought to the Board in six months’ time. 

 
22. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION   

 
The Board noted briefing notes on the: 

• Better Care Fund Submission 
• Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Self-Assessment and Questions 
• Youth Justice Plan 2015-18 

 
Resolved: That the reports be noted 
 

23. WORK PROGRAMME   
 
The Board noted its Work Programme. 
 
Resolved: that the report be noted. 

 
   The meeting ended at 15:40 

CHAIRMAN 

9



10



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

 

Meeting: Health & Wellbeing Board 
Meeting date: 15th September 2015 
Title of report: NHS Herefordshire CCG Commissioning 

Intentions 2016/17 
Report by: Director of Operations (NHS HCCG) 
 

 

Classification  

Open 

Notice has been served in accordance with Part 2, Section 5 (Procedures Prior to Private 
Meetings) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (Regulations) 2012.  

Key Decision  

This is not a key decision. 

Wards Affected 

Countywide  

Purpose 

To outline to the Health and Wellbeing Board: 

• the context and constraints that are impacting on the development of NHS 
Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s Commissioning Intentions; 

• delivery against previous years stated intentions; 

• the process being undertaken in the development of this year’s intentions and plans, 
including ensuring alignment with Herefordshire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy; and 

• key priorities and intentions for 16/17. 

Recommendation(s) 

That the Health and Wellbeing Board:  

(a) review and comment on content of the report; 

(b) recognise the quality and financial challenges facing Herefordshire’s health and 
social care system and the process being followed to ensure the CCGs 
Commissioning Intentions take account of these; and  

(c) recognise the alignment of the CCGs Commissioning intentions with 

AGENDA ITEM 8

11



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

 

Alternative options 

1. No alternative options. The CCG is expected to outline to the Health and Social Care 
system, and its key providers, its key commissioning intentions for the forthcoming 
financial year (2016/17) annually in the autumn of each year. This is part of the 
annual commissioning process that all CCGs follow. The intentions themselves 
outline the issues and priorities the CCG will take into account in the development of 
contracts with providers and its service redesign plans in 2016/17.  

Reasons for recommendations 

2. The CCG is a core member of the Health and Wellbeing Board, Transformation 
Board and Joint Commissioning Board and is keen to ensure its plans and intentions 
are shared, reviewed and developed jointly, where appropriate, with partners and 
stakeholders. It needs to ensure its plans meet national requirements and adhere to 
NHS England guidelines and frameworks, but importantly it also needs to make 
certain it reflects local challenges, priorities and needs. The Health and Wellbeing 
Board is one of the key bodies where the latter needs to be reviewed and considered.  

Key considerations 

3. Herefordshire CCG is responsible for commissioning the following services for the 
people of Herefordshire 

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Out of hours primary care 

• Planned hospital care 

• Services for people with learning disabilities 

• Rehabilitation services 

• Mental health services 

• Children’s healthcare services 

• Maternity & New-born services 

• Community health services 

• NHS Continuing healthcare 

4. It is currently jointly responsible, since April 2015, for the commissioning of Primary 
Care Services (excluding dental, pharmacy and ophthalmic services) with NHS 
England. During the remainder of 2015/16 the CCG will be working with NHS 
England to consider how the CCG may take on full delegated responsibility in relation 
to primary care commissioning. It is not responsible for commissioning: 

Herefordshire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

12



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

• Specialist services e.g. radiotherapy   

• Some primary care services e.g. Dental and ophthalmic services 

5. In developing its commissioning intentions for 2016/17 the CCGs will build on and 
take account of: 
 

• The priorities identified in HCCG’s Operational plan, also reflecting the 
aspirations in HCCGs 5 Year Strategic Plan for the healthcare system, 
developed with partners.  

• HCCGs Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) and 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) plans;  

• National and local priorities including delivery of NHS Constitutional 
standards and quality improvements  

• The latest information available in Herefordshire’s Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA): ‘Understanding Herefordshire’  

• Joint working with the Local Authority and the Health & Well-Being Board 
and associated work plans. 

• Herefordshire’s refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the 
priorities outlined and agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board in April 
2015.  

• The CCG’s financial recovery plan and associated measures and actions 
designed to deliver an improved financial position for the Health and Social 
Care system  

6. It is widely accepted that existing patterns of care and demand cannot simply be 
replicated, particularly in light of the widely rehearsed statements around predicted 
demographic changes, and that local system change is critical to deliver improved 
patient outcomes and productivity throughout the system for the long term.  
Commissioners will therefore require providers to collaborate in the development and 
delivery of the system plan; demonstrating commitment to change even in the 
absence of business benefit. The CCG will be pursing joint working to achieve 
responsive, proactive care which systematically meets the needs of individuals 
regardless of organisational boundaries and which will ultimately achieve improved 
patient outcomes. 

7. The health system, in addition to a failure to meet key constitutional standards e.g. 4 
hour waits and some cancer waiting time targets over the last year, has also seen 
some significant quality challenges. This includes an acute provider currently in 
Special Measures; concerns around mortality rates, and mixed sex ward breaches. 
Improvement plans are in place, and the CCG is working with providers and NHS 
England to ensure that these are delivered, but these all have an impact on resources 
and capacity within the system. Herefordshire also faces a challenge regarding 
workforce sustainability. This is increasingly evident across the health system from 
the recruitment of nurses in the acute sector to GPs in primary care.  

13



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

8. In line with national requirements, the CCG will continue to measure its delivery of 
improved outcomes against the NHS Outcomes Frameworks; local targets agreed 
with partners, as well ensuring a continuing focus on meeting the commitments to 
patients outlined in of the NHS Constitution. For example, the CCG expects patients 
to receive treatment within 18 weeks of referral, unless there is a valid reason for 
waits beyond this performance standard.  

9. Every year the CCG identifies within its commissioning intentions 5 key work areas 
that it had assessed as a priority area. The priorities agreed for 2015/16, along with a 
summary s, are outlined below. 

a) Community teams  

• New model for community teams (across health and social care) 
developed incorporating learning and developments to date.  

• CCG has provided investment to providers to support and resource 
roll-out of community teams across the county. 

• Focus in roll-out continues to be on personalisation, decreasing 
emergency admissions, maximising independence and improving end 
of life care. 

b) Stroke services  

• Clinical model and resulting resource requirements agreed by WVT 
and CCG. NHSE Assurance process achieved. 

• Work with third sector around service user and carer voice in 
implementation and evaluation of Early supported discharge 
progressing. 

c) Cancer services 

• Cancer strategy drafted and being consulted on with partners, patients 
and public.  

• Survivorship is central theme of cancer programme. 

• Improvement against NHS Constitutional standards, will continue to be 
managed through contract process 

d) Dementia developments 

• Provision of support to care homes through the creation of a dementia 
care home in-reach team  

• Reduction in dementia waiting times for memory assessment 

• Improved community support for people with dementia with ongoing 
post diagnosis support from the Alzheimer’s Society 

e) End of life provision 

14



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

• End of life programme in place, supported by Marie Curie 

• A business case for end of life packages has been developed with 
partners and approved by CCG, alongside an anticipatory care 
planning framework. 

A fuller list of delivery against the CCGs intentions is contained in appendix 1. 

10. Building on 2015/16 the CCG’s Governing Body, with input from Clinical colleagues, 
has initially identified the following areas as priorities for the coming eighteen months. 
The CCG will be working with providers to ensure that these priorities are both 
recognised in 2016/17 plans and considered in service redesign programmes; 

• Urgent Care pathway 

• Demand Management schemes, in particular improvement in diagnostic 
 services 

• Community services redesign and continued development of community 
teams 

• Cancer and stroke services inc delivery of constitutional standards 

• Mental Health Pathway, overseen by the partnership approach to the Mental 
Health Programme, focusing on prevention and enhancing CAMHS  

11. Additionally two significant cross-cutting themes, that also underpin the wider System 
Transformation Programme, have also been identified by the CCG as essential 
enablers to delivering change. These are: System Wide Workforce Development and 
Better Use of Technology. The system has traditionally struggled with recruitment and 
retention issues, and is also focused on using its current workforce more effectively it 
is therefore developing a clear workforce strategy. Significantly it has also not levered 
the advances in IT that could benefit a rural county and its residents e.g. development 
of telecare and telehealth services. Both these areas are proposed as requiring 
increased focus from the CCG in 2016/17 and beyond. 

12. The CCG will continue to undertake further modelling in collaboration with partners to 
assess opportunities for investment/disinvestment and service redesign. This will 
include benchmarking against best practice; use of Commissioning for Value 
information and programme budget analysis, as well as participation in the Right Care 
programme. The CCG will also carry on engaging and involving stakeholders in the 
development of its intentions over the coming months.  The CCG draft commissioning 
intentions will be shared with partners and providers over the coming month. 

 
Community impact 

13. In developing its commissioning intentions the CCG has taken account of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing strategy. The CCG’s Governing Body recently reviewed its 

15



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

plans and intentions to assess their strategic alignment against the JHWS. It noted 
particularly the top priority of mental health and reiterated its commitment to the 
development of an improved Mental Health pathway, with its local authority partners, 
as one of its core work programmes over the next 18 months.  

14. The CCG’s Governing Body also noted the need to enhance its work around Children 
and Young people, and will continue to work ever more closely with the Local 
Authority on this agenda in the coming months. The CCG is fully committed to the 
Children and Young Peoples Partnership, and via the Joint Commissioning Board, 
and its engagement in the wider C&YP structures, will continue to develop this 
programme of work. This will include pursuing via the mental health programme its 
intention to ensure an improved CAHMS offering with Local Authority partners.  

15. The CCG’s Governing Body also noted that information and signposting was an area 
that needed strengthening as part of its support to the delivery of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, to this end key initiatives, like the establishment of a Care Co-
ordination Hub, and the development of a directory of services are integral to its 
plans.  

16. The delivery of an efficient and effective urgent care pathway is also of paramount to 
the community and patients. This has come through in CCG consultation events and 
exercises, and the CCG is also mindful of underperformance on key NHS 
constitutional targets associated with the pathway. This is a major focus of the CCG 
system resilience plans and service redesign programme and will involve partners 
from across the system, including Herefordshire Council, NHS Wye Valley Trust and 
GP Practices.  

Equality duty 

17. The CCG ensures that its key programmes of work require an Equality Impact 
Assessment and it also adheres to the NHS Equality Development scheme, designed 
to ensure it pays due regard to the public sector equality standard and improved 
outcomes for vulnerable groups. This will include undertaking reviews on any 
proposed de-commissioning or disinvestment decisions. 

Financial implications 

18. Herefordshire CCG (HCCG) is facing a challenging in-year position in 2015/16. This 
has necessitated the requirement of an in-year recovery plan as identified as part of 
the national planning process in May 2015.  During the early months of 2015/16 
HCCG’s in-year risk has increased.  At this stage the CCG is currently assessing 
savings requirements for 2016/17 which is dependent on delivery during 2015/16.  

Legal implications 

19. The CCG has several statutory duties that it needs to comply with and that its 
Commissioning Intentions must take account of and respond to. The most significant 
of these include duties to:  

16



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

• promote the NHS Constitution; 
 

• publicise and promote information about choice; 
 

• exercise its functions with a view to ensuring that health services are provided 
in an integrated way; 
 

• whilst carrying out its functions, act with a view to enabling patients to make 
choices in respect of aspects of health services; 
 

• protect vulnerable adults and children and young people from abuse and 
neglect and promote their welfare; 
 

• exercise its functions with a view to securing continuous improvement in the 
quality of services provided to individuals; 
 

• whilst carrying out its functions, promote the involvement of patients, and their 
carers and representatives; 
 

• act under guidance from the Secretary of State specific to autism; 
 

• make "joint commissioning arrangements" with local authorities in respect of 
the education, health and care provision to be secured for children who have 
special educational needs 

 
20. In developing its intentions the CCG will be ensuring it complies with its statutory 

duties, in particular this will include meeting its obligations around the NHS 
Constitution and putting in place improvement plans and programmes designed to 
deliver nationally stipulated standards. It will also be ensuring it consults and involves 
patients and the public on any decommissioning or disinvestment decisions it may 
need to consider in light of the financial challenges the health and social care system 
faces.  

Risk management 

21. The CCG ensures it identifies and manages its risks across its work programmes and 
reports this to its Governing Body. The key areas of risk are focused on the delivery 
of financial sustainability across the health system; potential inability to deliver NHS 
Constitutional standards, and non-delivery of transformational change. Mitigating 
actions are in place including the development of a financial recovery plan and clear 
improvement plans for key targets.  

Consultees 

22. The CCG will be ensuring it consults and involves patients and the public on any 
decommissioning or disinvestment decisions it may need to consider in light of the 
financial challenges the health and social care system faces. It will work closely with 

17



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hazel Braund on Tel (01432) 260610 

 

partners across the system to understand any possible adverse impacts on partners’ 
plans its commissioning decisions could have, and put in place mitigating plans.  

Appendices 

Attachment 1 – 2015/16 Commissioning Intentions update 

Attachment 2 – 2016/17 Draft list of potential Commissioning Intentions  

Background papers 

None 

 
 

 

18



IItem08 September 2014   

1 
 

          

Attachment 1: Herefordshire CCG Commissioning Intentions Summary 
Update 2015/16 

1. In developing its outline commissioning intentions for 2015/16, the CCG took into 
account national requirements, the local financial context, areas of underperformance 
and patient experience. It also consulted and engaged CCG members via the CCG GP 
Parliament and through feedback from practice visits. This work shaped and informed 
the schemes and intentions agreed by the CCGs Governing Body, as well as the CCGs 
operational plans for 15/16.   

 
2. The CCG continued through 15/16 to also work jointly with other commissioners to co-

ordinate commissioning intentions where it was the Lead Commissioner. The CCG has 
worked closely with Herefordshire Council (Public Health, Adults and Children’s 
Commissioners) and NHS England and Public Health England to align objectives and 
ensure co-ordination of plans. This work has continued a pace with the embedding of a 
Joint Commissioning Board, Better Care Plans and an agreement to jointly commission 
Mental Health Services with the Local Authority. These plans will become be part of our 
intentions for 16/17, as we continue to align commissioning resources and plans with 
partners.  

 
3. The CCG continues to lead the County’s System Resilience Group to ensure that 

Herefordshire’s urgent care system works together to manage demand in the system 
and deliver its system resilience plans. For example a key measure of success is the 
delivery against the NHS Constitutional commitment that there is a maximum four-hour 
wait in A&E for patients from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge, an area we 
continue to underperform as a system. These issues will need to be considered as we 
develop our intentions for 16/17. 

 
4. HCCG’s commissioning schemes for 15/16 were grouped according to the NHS 

Outcomes Framework domains and indicate how each intention was intended to support 
the delivery of the CCGs priorities and objectives. Table 1 describes in further detail the 
current status/detail of work against the original intentions outlined to the CCGs 
Governing Body in September 2015. 
 

5. In developing the Commissioning intentions for 16/17 the learning from the 15/16 
process, and status/success of delivery and how these have been contracted for will one 
of the key elements in determining this year’s priorities. This will involve prioritisation 
sessions with stakeholders and assessment and use of JSNA. The Commissioning 
intentions document will be presented to the CCGs Governing Body in September. 

 

 

19



IItem08 September 2014   

2 
 

 

Table 1 NHS HCCG  

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

Preventing 
people from 
dying 
prematurely 

Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care  

 
E-referral 

• E-referral - develop work programme and 
ensure implementation of a single 
electronic referral process across all 
specialities, underpinned by agreed 
pathways of care 

 

All 
providers  

Key work stream of the demand management 
programme. Developments linked to the national 
programme and changes to choose and book and 
underpinning local processes.  Has been contracted as 
a QIPP for 15/16 and agreed with Wye Valley in the 
Clinically-led Specialty Pathway CQUIN. This includes 
the below specialties only: 

• Dermatology * 
• Cardiology * 
• Gastroenterology* 
• T&O* 
• ENT 
• Urology 

* starred specialties have met with CCG 
representatives and action plans are in the process of 
being produced and agreed 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 

Supported 
Self-
management  

• Supported self-management: 
development of patient held records and 
self-management plans (Inc. roll out and 
development of risk stratification systems, 
processes and tools) 

All 
providers 

Local Long Term conditions strategy agreed - now 
being embedded in local clinical practice.  
The objectives of the strategy: 
  

• Improve supported self-care 
• Reduce unscheduled admissions and 

readmissions 
• Maintain and improve quality of care 
• Reduce health care costs 

 
Developed care plan templates in EMIS especially for 
the top 2 per cent most at risk of admission worked 
with primary and secondary care as well as nursing 
homes to embed use. This has been key focus of 
education days over last 12 months, and will continue 

2
0



IItem08 September 2014   

3 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

to be so. 
 
 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 

Cardiovascular 
disease 

• CVD: collaborate with partners to deliver 
Herefordshire action plan that underpins 
the County’s CVD outcomes strategy. To 
include commissioning of integrated 
Familial Hypercholesterolemia for 
Hereford and Worcester, an integrated 
community focused diabetes service and 
review tier 2 and tier 3 obesity pathways 
for priority patients.  

WVNHST 
with other 
providers 

Commissioning of FH will remain a priority for CCG. 
The CCG have engaged with and participated in all 
relevant FH meetings led by West Midlands Strategic 
Clinical Network. A single FH service is still planned for 
West Midlands Area.  
 
Integrated Community Focused Diabetes Service over 
the past 12 months we have developed local care 
pathways to support integration across whole pathway 
e.g. Diabetes Foot care Pathway and a Transition 
Pathway for young people with diabetes  
 
The CCG have also engaged with wider partners 
across West Midlands including West Midlands 
Ambulance Trust  with view to developing a single 
Hypoglycaemia Pathway for West Midlands s area 
 
The CCG have and continue to work closely with 
partners to achieve a more integrated pathway for 
Obesity; key strands of work include listening to 
peoples experiences of weight management via our 
involvement in the Putting Patients in Control 
Programme, working with LA Herefordshire has also 
secured Sport England funding to help increase 
access to physical activities and a range of sports with 
support to help people to access the most appropriate 
activity /ranges of activities. 
 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 

Stroke 
 

• Continue to implement outcomes of the 
Stroke Review across the whole pathway 
including Stroke Prevention in AF, a 
networked approach to a fully serviced 

WVNHST • Clinical model and resulting resource requirements 
agreed by WVT and CCG, NHSE Assurance 
process achieved 

• Work with third sector around service user and 

2
1



IItem08 September 2014   

4 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

HASU/ASU, greater use of early 
supported discharge, through to work with 
stroke survivors to improve quality of care 
for stroke patients and delivery of national 
TIA standards 

 

carer voice in implementation and evaluation of 
ESD in progress 

• Immediate medical recruitment to improve TIA 
performance from March 2015. 

• Increased nursing and therapist levels. 
 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 

Cancer  • Ensure compliance with NHS 
constitutional commitments & delivery of 
Strategic Clinical Network priorities for 
local cancer care to achieve better 
outcome for people living with and beyond 
cancer.  

WVNSHT 
and 
Gloucester
shire 
Hospitals 
NHST 

• Cancer strategy drafted and being consulted on 
with partners, patients and public.  

• Survivorship is central component of cancer 
programme. 

• Improvement against NHS Constitutional standards 
will continue to be managed through contract 
process, current poor performance focused on 
breast symptomatic waits. 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 

End of Life 
Care 

Improve end of life care pathways including: 
• Secure integrated end of life care 

packages which are available 24/7 
• Ensure advanced care plans in place for 

all appropriate patients 
• Secure educational model for EOL care 

for whole health & care economy (inc 
Care homes) 

All 
providers 

• End of life packages – a business case to address 
this is currently being worked up jointly by St 
Michael’s Hospice and Marie Curie, for 
consideration by HCCG. 

• A planning for your future framework (patient held 
ACP document) has been adapted, based on 
Gloucestershire CCG, and will be piloted within 
Herefordshire. 

• Educational model - work is ongoing with St 
Michael’s Hospice to deliver this. Pilot sessions 
have been delivered, further discussions are taking 
place in order to learn from the sessions to date, 
and feed into future content design. 

 Enhancing and 
improving 
planned care 
and improving ill 
and preventing 
ill-health 

Diagnostics • Improved rapid access to diagnostic tests 
ensuring that NHS organisations are 
delivering a maximum wait of 6 weeks for 
tests across all specialities 

All 
providers 

• Part of our demand management programme of 
work that is being developed jointly with WVT.  

• Improvement Trajectory requested from Trust  
• Has been contracted as a QIPP for 15/16 and 

agreed with Wye Valley in the Clinically-led 
Specialty Pathway CQUIN  

 Modernising Inpatient care • Evaluate the provision of liaison 2gether • Agreed Greater access to mental health liaison in 

2
2



IItem08 September 2014   

5 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

Mental Health & 
Urgent Care 

psychiatry service within the Urgent Care 
pathway. Consolidating existing provision 
in a comprehensive service. 

• Maintain appropriate access to inpatients 
services by & Involvement of Crisis 
Intervention Team prior to admission, and 
follow-up discharge within 48 hours to 
reduce risk of harm 

 

NHS 
Foundation 
Trust & 
WVT NHST 

ED, and Hereford Hospital and community 
hospitals wards 

• Agreed CQUINs focusing on care planning, 
discharge planning, engagement of vulnerable 
groups in IAPT and personality disorder care 
pathway development 

 Modernising 
Mental health 

Strategy 
development 
and delivery 

• Develop system wide mental health and 
wellbeing strategy with partners building 
on findings of the Mental Health Needs 
Assessment  

• Ensure patient access to psychological 
therapies is improved and NHS England 
targets are met 
 

2gether 
NHS 
Foundation 

• Mental health needs assessment developed, is 
now being use to inform commissioning, strategy 
development being led by Herefordshire Council 

• Progression towards national target on waiting 
times for early intervention in psychosis and IAPT 
during the national shadow year to enable 
Herefordshire to start 2016 achieving the target. 

• Joint MH Procurement project agreed with 
Herefordshire Council. 

 Modernising 
Mental health 

Mental Health 
rehabilitation  

• Review access and criteria for 
rehabilitation to improve the provision of 
recovery services, long-term treatment 
and care available within the county, with 
the outcome of more people regaining 
independent living skills and continued 
repatriation of patients 
 

2gether 
NHS 
Foundation 

• This intention forms part of the mental health re-
provision; and in addition a QIPP saving has been 
identified with the provider for 15/16, this will be the 
main focus for 15/16. 

Enhancing 
quality of life 
for people 
with long-
term 
conditions 

Improving 
Health 
Outcomes for 
Children &  
Greater 
Integration of 
Care & 
Preventing ill-

Children with 
disabilities and 
complex 
needs 

Work with partners and providers to continue 
the implementation of the Children and 
Families Act 2013 by: 
• Developing operational arrangements for 

integrated education, health and social 
care plans and reviews. 

• Continuing the redesign of short breaks 
provision and work with WVNHST to 

WVNHST 
(and 
Herefordshi
re Council) 

Agreed  
• Development of Consistent care planning 

arrangements across the pathway, particularly with 
Community Children’s services; 

• Agreement to review all children’s community 
services 

• Agreement of principles of single assessment at 
point of entry, including risk assessment, which is 

2
3



IItem08 September 2014   

6 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

health and 
promoting  
Health 

engage in associated transition 
arrangements 

• Continue the implementation of the 
Herefordshire Transition protocol for 
children with long-term conditions. 

consistently revised] 
• Transition arrangements for short breaks agreed  
• Transition arrangements for children for diabetes 

and CAHMS in place.  

 Improving 
Health 
Outcomes for 
Children &  
Greater 
Integration of 
Care  

Adult Care and 
children with 
Long-term 
conditions 

• Supported self-management: 
development of patient held records and 
self-management plans (Inc. roll out and 
development of risk stratification systems, 
processes and tools)  

All 
providers 

Local Long Term conditions strategy agreed now being 
embedded in local clinical practice.  
The objectives of the strategy: 
  
• Improve supported self-care 
• Reduce unscheduled admissions and readmissions 
• Maintain and improve quality of care 
• Reduce health care costs 
 
Care plans for epilepsy, PD and diabetes developed 
and being launched in June 2015, and further training 
underway, to support self-management of LTCs 
 

 Preventing ill-
health and 
promoting 
health 

Neurology, 
PD, MS & 
Epilepsy 

• Develop additional capacity to advise 
patients, carers and clinicians and 
improvement of care pathways including 
transitions process,  
 

WVNHST • Funding for epilepsy nurse has been secured 
• Care plans for epilepsy, PD and diabetes 

developed and being launched in June 2015, and 
further training underway, to support self-
management of LTCs 

 
 Preventing ill-

health and 
promoting 
health and 
greater 
integration of 
care 

Personal 
health budgets 

• Enhance use and availability of personal 
health budgets in line with national 
requirements 

. 

All 
providers 

• Personal Health Budgets are being offered to 
people aged 18 and over in receipt of continuing 
healthcare funding for longer than three months.  
The National Requirement states that from October 
2014 everyone who is eligible for continuing 
healthcare has the right to have a PHB if they want 
one.  
 

• The CCG are also offering PHB to people who 
have recently met CHC criteria but were in receipt 

2
4



IItem08 September 2014   

7 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

of a direct payment through Adult Social care 
previously to ensure continuity of care. 

 Greater 
Integration of 
Care & Mental 
Health 

Dementia  • Dementia: work with partners to 
implement living well dementia strategy 
including community memory service and 
ensure delivery of national delivery 
targets 

2gether 
and 
Primary 
care 
Providers 

• Provision of support to care homes through the 
creation of a dementia care home in-reach team 

• Reduction in dementia waiting times for memory 
assessment 

• Improved community support for people with 
dementia with ongoing post diagnosis support from 
the Alzheimer’s Society 

 Greater 
Integration of 
Care 

Falls • Development and implementation of 
integrated falls service; this will include 
focus on a whole system approach 
including early intervention, early self-
management, tele care options, and a 
mobile response service  

WVTNHST  • Falls service commissioned and in place, review 
and evaluation of service will continue during 
15/16.  

 Modernising 
mental health 

Mental health • Re-procurement of Mental Health 
services during 2015 to commence April 
2016, in line with contractual 
requirements. 

2gether 
NHS 
Foundation 
Trust  

• Agreed with Herefordshire Council a joint 
commissioning approach to commence now April 
2017. 

 Modernising 
mental health 

Acquired Brian 
injury 

• Review current care pathway and identify 
gaps/ barriers / challenges 

WVNHST & 
2gether 
NHS 
Foundation 
Trust 

This work is intended to begin during 15/16. Resources 
and capacity to begin work are being established. 

Helping 
people 
recover 
from 
episodes of 
ill health or 
following 
injury 

Improving 
Urgent Care  

Urgent Care • Review, evaluate and reform the Urgent 
Care pathway focusing on acute care, 
intermediate care, community health and 
social care services. 

• Re-commission Community Teams as a 
single integrated resource including the 
county-wide roll-out of community teams 
and implementation of RAAC  

• Review urgent care provision, GP OOH 

WVNHST & 
NHS 111 
Provider, 
Prime care, 
West 
Midlands 
Ambulance 
Trust 

• Pathway developed and implemented for 
ambulatory care  

• WVT and local providers developed outline model 
for redesigned integrated urgent care pathway. 
CCG are taking this forward through development 
of a local urgent care network. Utilising existing 
contracts to align incentives across the health and 
care economy. CCG dialogue with incumbent 
providers to deliver model, procurement decisions 
will be made subsequent to this dialogue.  

2
5



IItem08 September 2014   

8 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

services, WIC & MIUs to re-procure 
services using outcomes based 
commissioning approach.  

• Retain oversight of the effectiveness of 
the new 111 service and shape delivery. 

• Explore an Urgent Care hub with a single 
point of access to hospital services and to 
community health and care services. 

• Review pathways for ambulatory care 
sensitive conditions to enable patients to 
be treated in ‘non bed based’ settings 
where ever  appropriate  

• Redesign paediatric emergency and 
urgent care pathway. 

• Additional resources agreed with WVT to roll out 
Virtual Ward (inc Hospital at Home) countywide. 

• Regional NHS111 procurement did not result in 
contract award for our area, potential to align future 
model with urgent care network development 
above. 

• Single point of clinical access will be delivered 
through a Care Coordination Centre 

• Urgent and emergency Paediatric pathway will be 
accessed via the newly emerging Care 
Coordination Centre.  

 Modernising 
Mental Health & 
improving health 
outcomes for 
children 

CAHMS • Seek adoption of the WMQRS standards 
• Seek improvement in the delivery of 

provision through involvement in CYP 
IAPT (Improve access to psychological 
therapies). 

• Continue to ensure implementation of the 
Herefordshire Transition protocol, 
including provision up to age 25 from 
children’s services. 

2gether 
NHS 
Foundation 
Trust 

• CAHMS draft specification developed and under 
review  

• CYP IAPT externally reviewed by DH; assurance 
provided that service is doing well. 

Ensuring 
that people 
have a 
positive 
experience 
of care 

All work streams  Patient 
Experience & 
Involvement 

• Seek further engagement activities that 
improve the extent of participation by 
patients and their carers in service 
developments across all health services. 

• Seek opportunities to improve the extent 
of participation by patient and carers in 
shaping and evaluation of care pathways 
so that people understand the role they 
can take in their own health and health 

All 
providers  

• Putting Patients In Control programme piloted  with 
obesity patients, designed  – to help and co-
produce obesity pathway - this methodology will be 
used to support other programmes e.g. care 
planning during 15/16 

• Patient and carers groups continue to be involved 
in design of pathways and referral routes e.g. long-
term conditions management and mental health 
needs assessments 

2
6



IItem08 September 2014   

9 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

care 
• Utilise patient feedback via e-Consultation 

pilot to inform steps in future e-referral 
processes  

• Work with HeathWatch to develop a 
systematic approach to patient and public 
engagement to establish effective 
sustainable processes that ensure patient 
and public views are considered in the 
steps of service re-design. 

• Harness opportunities to work with 
Herefordshire Carers Support to help 
embed and evaluate  local care pathways 
and referral processes  (e.g. Heart Failure 
support group) 

• Children and young people’s experiences 
are collated and shared with 
commissioners 

• CCGs is continuing to use CCG membership 
scheme to promote and engage patients with the 
CCGs work programme(s) 

• Strengthened arrangements already in place 
across partners e.g. HealthWatch and local 
authority to ensure co-ordinated approach to 
engagement and involvement, includes joint 
communication group for transformation 
programme. 

• The Council, Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Healthwatch Herefordshire have joined 
together on behalf of the children and young 
people’s partnership to commission the 
‘Participation People’ to work with children and 
young people from across Herefordshire to gain 
their views and opinions on local services.  

Promoting 
good health 
for all people 

Preventing ill-
health and 
promoting 
health 

Healthy 
lifestyles 

• Work with key partners, including 
Hereford Council Public Health, to 
improve and promote smoking cessation 
services and alcohol abuse services to 
promote healthier lifestyles 

• Embed MECC into every consultation and 
contact with people in appropriate settings 
and within the educational programme 

• Support education across primary, 
secondary care and care homes 
 

All 
providers  

• The Council recently undertook an any qualified 
provider re-commissioning exercise and from 1st 
April 2015 has 12 providers capable of providing 
stop smoking behavioural support services in 
pharmacies, G.P. surgeries and community 
settings.  

• Herefordshire Council has been retendering 
substance misuse services for the county. The 
service will include in-reach to hospital settings and 
closer working with primary care services when it 
goes live later this year. Services will be configured 
to offer prevention, early intervention and 
interventions which lead to recovery from 
substance misuse.” 

• CCG education programme includes education 
sessions with  Primary Care and Nursing homes to 

2
7



IItem08 September 2014   

10 
 

NHS 
Outcome 

CCG Work 
stream/priority(
s) 

Service area  Commissioning Schemes Relevant 
to current 
providers 

Status 

ensure targeted interventions that deliver CCG 
outcomes, key focus has been embedding of LTC 
strategy in clinical practice 

 

  

2
8



IItem08 September 2014   

11 
 

 

 

29



30



A
tt

ac
he

m
en

t 2
 - 

N
H

S 
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
CG

 -D
RA

FT
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
IN

G
 IN

TE
N

TI
O

N
S 

fo
r 

CO
N

SU
LT

A
TI

O
N

 - 
V

er
si

on
 0

.1
 

CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

Ch
ild

re
ns

Ch
ild

re
n 

w
ith

 
di

sa
bi

lit
ie

s 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f a
 jo

in
t c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
pl

an
 w

ith
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
ou

nc
il 

to
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

•I
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

pa
th

w
ay

 m
ov

in
g 

fr
om

 p
re

-b
irt

h 
to

 tr
an

si
tio

n 
in

to
 a

du
lth

oo
d.

  I
nc

. A
ut

is
m

 p
at

hw
ay

•C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

di
re

ct
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
re

sp
ite

 fo
st

er
in

g)
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
in

 fa
m

ily
 s

et
tin

gs
 ra

th
er

 th
an

 re
qu

iri
ng

 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e 
•C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
of

 p
os

t 1
9 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 to
 s

up
po

rt
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
 lo

ca
l e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 
•E

nd
 o

f l
ife

 p
at

hw
ay

 fo
r C

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

•C
on

tin
ua

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 T
ra

ns
iti

on
 p

ro
to

co
l f

or
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 lo
ng

-t
er

m
 c

on
di

tio
ns

.
•C

on
tin

ui
ng

 th
e 

re
de

si
gn

 o
f  

sh
or

t b
re

ak
s 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
•C

on
tin

ui
ng

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
pe

ra
tio

na
l a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 fo
r i

nt
eg

ra
te

d 
ed

uc
at

io
n,

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

re
vi

ew
s.

•I
nc

re
as

in
g 

us
e 

of
 p

er
so

na
l h

ea
lth

 b
ud

ge
ts

. 
•T

o 
pr

og
re

ss
 th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 a

ris
in

g 
fr

om
 th

e 
20

15
/1

6 
re

vi
ew

 o
f c

om
m

un
ity

 h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 a
nd

 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
er

s

Ch
ild

re
ns

Em
ot

io
na

l H
ea

lth
 

an
d 

W
el

lb
ei

ng
 

•I
m

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 P
er

in
at

al
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
vi

si
on

•E
nh

an
ce

m
en

t o
f c

om
m

un
ity

 e
at

in
g 

di
so

rd
er

s 
se

rv
ic

e
•R

ev
is

ed
 C

ris
is

 C
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
 a

nd
 2

4/
7 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

•C
AM

H
S/

 G
P/

 S
ch

oo
l L

in
k 

(t
ie

r 1
 a

nd
 2

 im
pr

ov
em

en
t)

•S
us

ta
in

ab
ili

ty
 o

f C
YP

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n

•R
ol

l o
ut

 o
f R

O
M

 (r
ep

or
te

d 
ou

tc
om

e 
m

ea
su

re
s)

 a
cr

os
s 

CA
M

H
s 

an
d 

m
ak

in
g 

be
tt

er
 u

se
 o

f t
ec

hn
ol

og
y

•I
nc

re
as

e 
in

 ti
er

 2
 c

ap
ac

ity
, e

.g
. p

rim
ar

y 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 /

 C
YP

-IA
PT

.
•D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 C

YP
-IA

PT
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
(c

on
tin

ua
tio

n 
of

 s
ta

ff
 tr

ai
ni

ng
)

•I
m

pr
ov

em
en

t a
ga

in
st

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

of
 W

M
Q

RS
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 fo
r C

AM
H

S
 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 a
nd

 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
er

s

Ch
ild

re
ns

Sa
fe

gu
ar

di
ng

•J
oi

nt
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
w

ith
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
ou

nc
il 

to
 m

ee
t t

he
 n

ee
ds

 o
f l

oo
ke

d 
af

te
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

– 
e.

g.
 c

ar
e 

pl
ac

em
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y,
 fo

st
er

in
g 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
 a

nd
 p

ot
en

tia
l r

eg
io

na
l f

ra
m

ew
or

k 
ap

pr
oa

ch
. 

•T
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 fo
r D

es
ig

na
te

d 
D

oc
to

r,
 w

ith
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

se
ss

io
ns

.

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 a
nd

 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
er

s

Ch
ild

re
ns

 
M

at
er

ni
ty

 S
er

vi
ce

s
•T

o 
se

ek
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t t
o 

lo
ca

l m
at

er
ni

ty
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
Ea

rly
 B

oo
ki

ng
, a

cc
es

s 
to

 p
at

ie
nt

 re
co

rd
s,

 m
id

w
ife

ry
-le

d 
un

it,
 p

at
hw

ay
s;

 
pe

rin
at

al
 p

ar
en

ta
l m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
; r

ec
or

di
ng

 a
nd

 re
po

rt
in

g.
W

VT
 N

H
ST

 a
nd

 2
gt

he
r 

Fo
un

da
tio

n 
Tr

us
t

H
ig

h 
Q

ua
lit

y 
Cl

in
ic

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

St
ro

ke
•C

on
tin

ue
 to

 im
pl

em
en

t o
ut

co
m

es
 o

f t
he

 S
tr

ok
e 

Re
vi

ew
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 p
at

hw
ay

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
St

ro
ke

 P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

in
 A

F,
 a

 n
et

w
or

ke
d 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 to
 a

 fu
lly

 s
er

vi
ce

d 
H

AS
U

/A
SU

, g
re

at
er

 u
se

 o
f e

ar
ly

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

, t
hr

ou
gh

 to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 s
tr

ok
e 

su
rv

iv
or

s 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

qu
al

ity
 o

f c
ar

e 
fo

r s
tr

ok
e 

pa
tie

nt
s 

an
d 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 n

at
io

na
l T

IA
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

W
VT

 N
H

ST
 

H
ig

h 
Q

ua
lit

y 
Cl

in
ic

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Ed
uc

at
io

n
•C

o-
or

di
na

te
d 

ed
uc

at
io

n 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r c
lin

ic
ia

ns
, a

nd
 o

th
er

 k
ey

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s,
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 p
at

hw
ay

 a
nd

 re
de

si
gn

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t
Al

l p
ro

vi
de

rs
 

In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

ar
e

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

Se
rv

ic
es

 
•T

o 
re

de
si

gn
 a

du
lt 

be
d 

ba
se

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

 o
rd

er
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

cl
in

ic
al

 o
ut

co
m

es
 a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
 a

 c
lin

ic
al

ly
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 a

nd
 

fin
an

ci
al

ly
 v

ia
bl

e 
m

od
el

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
s 

th
at

  M
ax

im
is

es
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 a

nd
 s

el
f-

m
an

ag
em

en
t,

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
ch

oi
ce

 a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

 o
ve

r t
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 in

di
vi

du
al

s 
re

ce
iv

e 
an

d 
re

du
ce

s 
em

er
ge

nc
y 

ad
m

is
si

on
s 

an
d 

fa
ci

lit
at

es
 ti

m
el

y 
ho

sp
ita

l d
is

ch
ar

ge

W
VT

 N
H

ST
 

31



CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

ar
e

D
em

en
tia

As
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 d
em

en
tia

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

:
•I

nc
re

as
e 

av
ai

la
bi

lit
y 

of
 e

ar
ly

 d
ia

gn
os

is
 o

f d
em

en
tia

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 (i
nc

 d
el

iv
er

y 
of

 n
at

io
na

l d
em

en
tia

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
)

•S
up

po
rt

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 d
em

en
tia

, c
ar

er
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

 to
 li

ve
 w

ith
 d

em
en

tia
•D

riv
e 

a 
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 w
id

e 
cu

ltu
re

 c
ha

ng
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
an

d 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g

•T
o 

re
vi

ew
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 d
em

en
tia

 s
er

vi
ce

 in
 te

rm
s 

of
 a

ct
iv

ity
 a

nd
 d

em
an

d
•T

o 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
de

m
en

tia
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
 id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
re

qu
iri

ng
 d

ia
gn

os
is

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

ar
e

Be
tt

er
 E

xp
lo

ita
tio

n 
of

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

&
 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy

W
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 e
xp

lo
it 

IM
T 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 C

CG
s 

an
d 

sy
st

em
s 

vi
si

on
 to

 in
cl

ud
e:

•E
ns

ur
in

g 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
rig

ht
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n,
 in

 th
e 

rig
ht

 p
la

ce
 a

t t
he

 ri
gh

t t
im

e
•U

si
ng

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 b
es

t c
lin

ic
al

 p
ra

ct
ic

e,
 m

ov
in

g 
to

 p
ap

er
le

ss
 w

or
ki

ng
, t

hi
s 

fa
ci

lit
at

in
g 

se
rv

ic
e 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y,
 e

ff
ec

tiv
en

es
s 

an
d 

sa
fe

ty
•E

na
bl

in
g 

ca
re

 to
 b

e 
br

ou
gh

t t
o 

th
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
, r

at
he

r t
ha

n 
in

di
vi

du
al

s 
tr

av
el

lin
g 

to
o 

fa
r t

o 
re

ce
iv

e 
ca

re

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

ar
e

Ca
re

 C
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
&

 L
oc

al
 D

ire
ct

or
y 

of
 S

er
vi

ce
s

•a
 s

in
gl

e 
po

in
t o

f c
on

ta
ct

 fo
r c

lin
ic

ia
ns

 a
nd

 h
ea

lth
 p

ra
ct

iti
on

er
s 

w
is

hi
ng

 to
 a

cc
es

s 
ac

ut
e 

or
 s

pe
ci

fic
 c

om
m

un
ity

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
or

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
t p

at
hw

ay
s 

fo
r t

ho
se

 w
ith

 p
hy

si
ca

l h
ea

lth
 o

r c
ar

e 
ne

ed
s,

 m
ov

in
g 

to
 in

cl
us

io
n 

of
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

up
po

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

du
rin

g 
16

/1
7 

   
   

• 
To

 a
ct

iv
el

y 
di

ve
rt

 a
dm

is
si

on
s 

fr
om

 a
cu

te
 E

D
 w

he
re

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

, l
ea

di
ng

 to
 a

 re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 o
ve

ra
ll 

ad
m

is
si

on
s.

 
• 

To
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

an
 u

p 
to

 d
at

e 
di

re
ct

or
y 

of
 lo

ca
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

   
 

• 
To

 a
ss

is
t i

n 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

as
si

gn
m

en
t o

f c
om

m
un

ity
 h

os
pi

ta
l a

nd
 re

ab
le

m
en

t b
ed

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

re
pa

tr
ia

tio
n 

of
 p

at
ie

nt
s 

fr
om

 a
cu

te
 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
ou

t o
f c

ou
nt

y 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

•T
o 

m
ax

im
is

e 
th

e 
ut

ili
sa

tio
n 

of
 a

lte
rn

at
iv

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
co

ns
is

te
nt

ly
 id

en
tif

y 
th

e 
m

os
t r

el
ev

an
t s

er
vi

ce
.  

   
 

•T
o 

fa
ci

lit
at

e 
sa

fe
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

s 
an

d 
tr

an
sf

er
s 

w
ith

 g
oo

d 
qu

al
ity

 h
an

do
ve

r i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
to

 a
 s

er
vi

ce
 th

at
 m

ee
ts

 th
e 

ho
lis

tic
 n

ee
ds

 o
f t

he
 

pa
tie

nt
.  

   
• 

Id
en

tif
y 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r p
ub

lic
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 a
dv

ic
e

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

ar
e 

M
an

ag
in

g 
th

e 
Ca

re
 

ho
m

e 
m

ar
ke

t 
As

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 B

et
te

r C
ar

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
de

ve
lo

p 
in

te
gr

at
ed

 a
nd

 im
pr

ov
ed

 w
or

ki
ng

 a
cr

os
s 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e,
 w

he
re

 p
eo

pl
e 

re
ce

iv
in

g 
ho

us
in

g 
w

ith
 c

ar
e 

w
ill

 re
ce

iv
e 

co
st

-e
ff

ec
tiv

e,
 p

er
so

na
lis

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 th

at
 e

na
bl

es
 th

em
 to

 b
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t a

s 
lo

ng
 a

s 
po

ss
ib

le
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

se
am

le
ss

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 a
nd

 im
pr

ov
ed

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

of
 c

ar
e.

 W
ill

 in
cl

ud
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f  
m

ar
ke

t a
nd

 n
ew

 c
ar

e 
ho

m
e 

m
ar

ke
t s

tr
at

eg
y.

 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
Jo

in
t F

or
m

ul
ar

y 
an

d 
lo

ca
l 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 

or
/a

nd
 n

at
io

na
l 

gu
id

el
in

es

 •
 P

ha
rm

ac
eu

tic
al

 s
er

vi
ce

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
 m

us
t s

up
pl

y 
m

ed
ic

in
es

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

lo
ca

l H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 jo

in
t f

or
m

ul
ar

y 
an

d 
fo

rw
ar

d 
or

 
ad

vi
se

 o
n 

re
qu

es
ts

 fo
r n

on
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

m
ed

ic
in

es
 to

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
ge

nc
ie

s.
• 

Pr
ov

id
er

s 
m

us
t e

ns
ur

e 
al

l m
ed

ic
in

es
 u

se
 a

nd
 p

re
sc

rib
in

g 
is

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

e 
ag

re
ed

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 Jo

in
t F

or
m

ul
ar

y 
an

d 
lo

ca
l 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 o

r/
an

d 
na

tio
na

l g
ui

de
lin

es
 e

.g
. N

IC
E 

an
d 

po
lic

ie
s

W
VT

 N
H

ST

32



CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
m

ed
ic

in
es

 
op

tim
is

at
io

n 
co

nt
ra

ct
s 

an
d 

m
in

im
um

 
st

an
da

rd
s 

•A
ll 

co
m

m
un

ity
 in

pa
tie

nt
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

m
us

t h
av

e 
a 

m
in

im
um

 o
f o

ne
 c

lin
ic

al
 p

ha
rm

ac
is

t v
is

it 
pe

r w
ee

k.
•A

ll 
co

m
m

un
ity

 h
os

pi
ta

ls
 m

us
t h

ol
d 

co
nt

ro
lle

d 
dr

ug
s 

st
oc

ks
 a

s 
pe

r l
oc

al
ly

 a
nn

ua
lly

 a
gr

ee
d 

si
te

 s
to

ck
 li

st
s 

to
 e

na
bl

e 
24

/7
 p

at
ie

nt
 a

cc
es

s,
 

re
du

ce
 w

as
te

 re
so

ur
ce

s 
e.

g.
 m

ed
ic

in
es

 c
os

ts
 a

nd
 th

e 
ne

ed
 fo

r w
itn

es
se

d 
CD

 d
es

tr
uc

tio
ns

.
•H

om
e 

O
ff

ic
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
he

ld
 b

y 
re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r s

ite
s 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 C

on
tr

ol
le

d 
D

ru
gs

 c
an

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

, t
ra

ns
po

rt
ed

, s
to

re
d,

 
m

on
ito

re
d 

cl
os

el
y 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
eq

ui
ta

bl
e 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 m
ed

ic
in

es
 a

cr
os

s 
si

te
s 

fo
r a

ll 
pa

tie
nt

s 
e.

g.
 a

ll 
co

m
m

un
ity

 h
os

pi
ta

l s
ite

s 
•P

ha
rm

ac
eu

tic
al

  s
er

vi
ce

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
 m

us
t e

ns
ur

e 
sy

st
em

s 
ar

e 
in

 p
la

ce
 to

 a
ss

ur
e 

al
l c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
de

al
in

g 
w

ith
 

m
ed

ic
in

es
 h

av
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 p

ha
rm

ac
eu

tic
al

 a
dv

ic
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t i

nc
lu

di
ng

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 s
ki

ll 
m

ix
 s

up
po

rt
 v

ia
 p

ha
rm

ac
y 

te
ch

ni
ci

an
s 

or
 /

 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
m

ed
ic

in
es

 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 
• 

Ph
ar

m
ac

eu
tic

al
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 m
us

t w
or

k 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

re
le

va
nt

 s
ec

tio
ns

 o
f t

he
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
CG

 M
ed

ic
in

es
 M

an
ag

em
en

t Q
ua

lit
y 

Sc
he

du
le

 2
01

4/
15

/1
6.

• 
Ph

ar
m

ac
eu

tic
al

 s
er

vi
ce

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
 m

us
t e

ns
ur

e 
sy

st
em

s 
ar

e 
in

 p
la

ce
 to

 a
ss

ur
e 

al
l c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
de

al
in

g 
w

ith
 

m
ed

ic
in

es
 h

av
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 p

ha
rm

ac
eu

tic
al

 a
dv

ic
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t i

nc
lu

di
ng

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 s
ki

ll 
m

ix
 s

up
po

rt
. 

• 
Pr

ov
id

er
s 

m
us

t e
ns

ur
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 le
ga

l a
nd

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
  r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 g
oo

d 
pr

ac
tic

e 
w

he
re

 m
ed

ic
in

es
 a

re
 s

up
pl

ie
d 

i.e
. 

• 
W

ho
le

sa
le

 d
ea

le
rs

 li
ce

ns
es

•H
om

e 
of

fic
e 

lic
en

se
s 

fo
r c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
dr

ug
s

•u
nd

er
 p

at
ie

nt
 g

ro
up

 d
ire

ct
io

ns
 a

nd
/o

r n
on

-m
ed

ic
al

 p
re

sc
rib

in
g 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t f

or
 s

ys
te

m
s 

an
d 

st
af

f.

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 a
nd

 
M

ed
ic

in
es

 
(S

ec
on

da
ry

 C
ar

e)

Pr
ov

id
er

s 
of

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 in
vo

lv
in

g 
m

ed
ic

in
es

 a
re

:
·  

   
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d 
to

 a
do

pt
 e

-p
re

sc
rib

in
g 

as
 p

ar
t o

f w
id

er
 p

at
ie

nt
 s

af
et

y 
in

iti
at

iv
es

 
·  

   
 u

til
is

e 
el

ec
tr

on
ic

 d
at

ab
as

e 
an

d 
sc

he
du

lin
g 

to
 p

ro
ac

tiv
el

y 
m

an
ag

e 
pa

tie
nt

 o
ut

co
m

es
 a

nd
 c

os
ts

 o
f k

ey
 H

ig
h 

Co
st

 D
ru

gs
 e

.g
. b

io
lo

gi
cs

 in
 

rh
eu

m
at

ol
og

y 
an

d 
op

ht
ha

lm
ol

og
y 

·  
   

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 s
up

pl
y 

El
ec

tr
on

ic
 P

at
ie

nt
 R

ec
or

ds
 fo

r m
ed

ic
in

es
 o

n 
di

sc
ha

rg
e 

to
 G

Ps
 a

nd
 in

 th
e 

fu
tu

re
 c

om
m

un
ity

 p
ha

rm
ac

ie
s

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 a
nd

 
M

ed
ic

in
es

 (p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

)

Pr
ov

id
er

s 
of

 p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

  s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

vo
lv

in
g 

m
ed

ic
in

es
 a

re
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
:

·  
   

 E
na

bl
e 

an
d 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 in
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f P
at

ie
nt

s 
ac

ce
ss

in
g 

on
lin

e 
re

pe
at

 p
re

sc
rip

tio
ns

 o
rd

er
in

g 
th

ro
ug

h 
se

cu
re

 IT
 

po
rt

al
s 

e.
g.

 E
M

IS
 P

at
ie

nt
 A

cc
es

s.
 

·  
   

 E
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

Pr
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
e 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
en

ab
le

d 
in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 lo
ca

l a
nd

 n
at

io
na

l o
bj

ec
tiv

es

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 a
nd

 
M

ed
ic

in
es

 (a
ll 

pr
ov

id
er

s)

Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

is
si

on
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fr

om
 a

ny
 q

ua
lif

ie
d 

pr
ov

id
er

 in
vo

lv
in

g 
m

ed
ic

in
es

 s
ho

ul
d 

re
co

rd
  e

le
ct

ro
ni

ca
lly

:
m

ed
ic

in
es

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
, s

er
vi

ce
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

pa
ra

m
et

er
s 

, p
at

ie
nt

 o
ut

co
m

es
, e

xc
ep

tio
n 

re
po

rt
s,

 e
na

bl
e 

 p
at

ie
nt

 re
ca

ll,
 in

vo
ic

in
g/

cl
ai

m
s 

to
 fa

ci
lit

at
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
by

 th
e 

Co
m

m
is

si
on

er
.

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

33



CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
M

ed
ic

in
es

 
O

pt
im

is
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
e 

Re
de

si
gn

 
(W

VT
)

Sp
ec

ifi
ca

lly
 fo

r 1
5-

16
:

1.
   

 C
om

m
un

ity
 h

os
pi

ta
ls

 a
ll 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
N

H
S 

an
d 

N
H

S 
co

m
m

is
si

on
ed

 m
in

im
um

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 to

 a
pp

ly
 a

cr
os

s 
al

l
2.

   
 N

H
S 

co
m

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 s
to

m
a 

nu
rs

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
– 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 im

pl
em

en
t s

er
vi

ce
 re

-d
es

ig
n 

in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 c

on
tr

ac
t d

et
ai

ls
 :

a)
   

 Im
pl

em
en

t a
dd

iti
on

al
 E

M
IS

 W
eb

 IT
 fu

nc
tio

na
lit

y 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 p
at

ie
nt

 re
co

rd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t ,
 

b)
   

 in
te

gr
at

io
n 

w
ith

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
un

de
rt

ak
e 

no
n-

 m
ed

ic
al

 p
re

sc
rib

in
g 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 s
to

m
a 

pa
tie

nt
 a

pp
lia

nc
e 

an
d 

de
vi

ce
s.

3.
   

 W
ou

nd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
a)

   
 D

is
tr

ic
t N

ur
si

ng
 s

up
po

rt
 d

re
ss

in
g 

su
pp

ly
 a

nd
 le

g 
ul

ce
r  

m
an

ag
em

en
t  

pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

  
b)

   
 T

VN
 s

up
po

rt
 fo

r p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
ca

re
 h

om
es

4.
   

 A
nt

ic
oa

gu
la

tio
n 

co
m

m
un

ity
 s

er
vi

ce
 c

lin
ic

s 
to

 m
ov

e 
to

 p
oi

nt
 o

f c
ar

e 
te

st
in

g 
fo

r a
ll 

pa
tie

nt
s 

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
 i.

e.
 h

ou
se

bo
un

d 
an

d 
po

te
nt

ia
lly

 
5.

   
 P

at
ho

lo
gy

/h
ae

m
at

ol
og

y 
to

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

lly
 s

up
po

rt
 p

oi
nt

 o
f c

ar
e 

te
st

in
g 

fo
r p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 c

om
m

is
si

on
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
e.

g.
 w

eb
 b

as
ed

  
qu

al
ity

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 

6.
   

 R
he

um
at

ol
og

y 
ga

in
 s

ha
rin

g 
ag

re
em

en
t-

  d
et

ai
ls

 in
te

gr
at

ed
 in

to
 m

ai
n 

po
in

ts

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

M
ed

ic
in

es
  

O
pt

im
iz

at
io

n
M

ed
ic

in
es

 
O

pt
im

is
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
e 

Re
de

si
gn

 
(2

g)

2g
 m

us
t e

ns
ur

e 
al

l m
ed

ic
in

es
 u

se
 a

nd
 p

re
sc

rib
in

g 
is

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

e 
ag

re
ed

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 Jo

in
t F

or
m

ul
ar

y 
an

d 
lo

ca
l H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 
or

/a
nd

 n
at

io
na

l g
ui

de
lin

es
 e

.g
. N

IC
E 

an
d 

lo
ca

l p
re

sc
rib

in
g 

fo
cu

s 
i.e

. q
ue

tia
pi

ne
 M

R 
ve

nl
af

ax
in

e 
M

R
2g

et
he

r F
ou

nd
at

io
n 

Tr
us

t

In
te

gr
at

ed
 c

ar
e 

(L
ea

rn
in

g 
D

is
ab

ili
tie

s)

Le
ar

ni
ng

 D
is

ab
ili

ty
•D

ev
el

op
 a

 s
ha

re
d 

st
ra

te
gy

 fo
r L

ea
rn

in
g 

di
sa

bi
lit

ie
s 

 In
c.

 P
ro

m
ot

e 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 a
nd

 h
ea

lth
y 

lif
es

ty
le

s,
 s

up
po

rt
in

g 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t,

 
ex

te
nd

in
g 

ch
oi

ce
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
 o

ve
r c

ar
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t a

nd
 b

et
te

r u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 n

ee
d,

 a
nd

 s
tr

en
gt

he
ni

ng
 p

at
hw

ay
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

pr
im

ar
y 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ity
 c

ar
e

•D
el

iv
er

 a
n 

ou
tc

om
es

 b
as

ed
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t o

f a
gr

ee
d 

ar
ea

s 
of

 th
e 

pa
th

w
ay

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 re

-p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

•I
m

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 a

ut
is

m
 s

tr
at

eg
y

D
el

iv
er

 c
on

tin
uo

us
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t i
n 

re
sp

on
se

 to
 W

in
te

rb
ou

rn
e 

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 o

ut
 o

f c
ou

nt
y 

pl
ac

em
en

ts

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

M
od

er
ni

si
ng

 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 

M
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 
•J

oi
nt

ly
 c

om
m

is
si

on
ed

 re
-p

ro
cu

re
m

en
t o

f M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
du

rin
g 

20
15

/1
6 

to
 c

om
m

en
ce

 A
pr

il 
20

17
•A

gr
ee

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t w
ho

le
 s

ys
te

m
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d 

en
su

rin
g 

pa
rit

y 
of

 e
st

ee
m

 o
f M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 w

ith
 p

hy
si

ca
l h

ea
lth

•D
el

iv
er

y 
of

 C
ris

is
 C

ar
e 

Co
nc

or
da

t -
 2

4/
7;

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

&
 a

dv
ic

e;
 c

ris
is

 c
ar

e 
pl

an
ni

ng
; c

ris
is

 c
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
s

• 
Im

pr
ov

e 
ea

rly
 a

cc
es

s 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
fo

r p
sy

ch
os

is
• 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 c
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
s

• 
En

su
re

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 p

sy
ch

ol
og

ic
al

 th
er

ap
ie

s 
is

 im
pr

ov
ed

 a
nd

 N
H

S 
En

gl
an

d 
ta

rg
et

s 
ar

e 
m

et
• 

Re
vi

ew
 a

cc
es

s 
an

d 
cr

ite
ria

 fo
r r

eh
ab

ili
ta

tio
n 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 re

co
ve

ry
 s

er
vi

ce
s,

 lo
ng

-t
er

m
 tr

ea
tm

en
t a

nd
 c

ar
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

co
un

ty
, w

ith
 th

e 
ou

tc
om

e 
of

 m
or

e 
pe

op
le

 re
ga

in
in

g 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t l
iv

in
g 

sk
ill

s 
an

d 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

re
pa

tr
ia

tio
n 

of
 p

at
ie

nt
s

•S
ee

k 
sy

st
em

-w
id

e 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 a
id

 th
e 

ea
rly

 id
en

tif
ic

at
io

n 
of

 th
os

e 
pe

op
le

 in
 g

re
at

es
t n

ee
d 

or
 ri

sk
 o

f d
ev

el
op

in
g 

a 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

co
nd

iti
on

•C
on

tin
ua

tio
n 

of
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t t
o 

ca
re

 p
la

nn
in

g 
fo

r a
ll 

pe
op

le
 u

si
ng

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s

2g
th

er
 F

ou
nd

at
io

n 
Tr

us
t

34



CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

Pl
an

ne
d 

Ca
re

Ca
nc

er
 

•E
ns

ur
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 N
H

S 
co

ns
tit

ut
io

na
l c

om
m

itm
en

ts
 a

nd
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 (2
 w

ee
k 

ai
ts

, 3
1 

an
d 

62
 d

ay
s)

 &
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 C
lin

ic
al

 
N

et
w

or
k 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
fo

r l
oc

al
 c

an
ce

r c
ar

e 
to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 b
et

te
r o

ut
co

m
e 

fo
r p

eo
pl

e 
liv

in
g 

w
ith

 a
nd

 b
ey

on
d 

ca
nc

er
. 

• 
Lo

ca
l H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
an

ce
r w

or
k 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e/

st
ra

te
gy

 d
ra

ft
ed

, t
o 

be
 a

gr
ee

d 
w

ith
 p

ar
tn

er
s,

 p
at

ie
nt

s 
an

d 
pu

bl
ic

, s
up

po
rt

ed
 b

y 
a 

cl
ea

r 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
 p

la
n

• 
Su

rv
iv

or
sh

ip
 a

nd
 p

re
ve

nt
io

n 
at

 h
ea

rt
 o

f t
he

 c
an

ce
r s

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e

W
VT

 N
H

ST
 a

nd
 

G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

 
H

os
pi

ta
ls

Pl
an

ne
d 

Ca
re

 
D

em
an

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t
•E

-r
ef

er
ra

l -
 c

on
tin

ue
 to

 d
ev

el
op

 w
or

k 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
an

d 
en

su
re

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 a
 s

in
gl

e 
el

ec
tr

on
ic

 re
fe

rr
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

 a
cr

os
s 

al
l 

sp
ec

ia
lit

ie
s,

 u
nd

er
pi

nn
ed

 b
y 

ag
re

ed
 p

at
hw

ay
s 

of
 c

ar
e

•D
ia

gn
os

tic
s 

-  
Im

pr
ov

ed
 ra

pi
d 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 d
ia

gn
os

tic
 te

st
s 

en
su

rin
g 

th
at

 N
H

S 
or

ga
ni

sa
tio

ns
 a

re
 d

el
iv

er
in

g 
a 

m
ax

im
um

 w
ai

t o
f 6

 w
ee

ks
 fo

r 
te

st
s 

ac
ro

ss
 a

ll 
sp

ec
ia

lit
ie

s
•F

oc
us

 o
n 

de
m

an
d 

m
an

ag
em

en
t b

y 
sp

ec
ia

lit
ie

s 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
vi

ew
 o

f a
dh

er
en

ce
 to

 lo
w

 p
rio

rit
y 

tr
ea

tm
en

t p
ol

ic
y 

an
d 

m
ea

su
re

s 
to

 
im

pr
ov

e 
ne

w
 to

 fo
llo

w
-u

p 
ra

tio

Pr
im

ar
y 

Ca
re

 a
nd

 W
VT

 
N

H
ST

Pl
an

ne
d 

Ca
re

/I
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

Ca
re

En
d 

of
 li

fe
Im

pr
ov

e 
pa

lli
at

iv
e 

an
d 

en
d 

of
 li

fe
 c

ar
e 

pa
th

w
ay

s,
 fo

r C
hi

ld
re

n,
 Y

ou
ng

 P
eo

pl
e,

 A
du

lts
, a

nd
 O

ld
er

 P
eo

pl
e,

 in
cl

ud
in

g:
•I

nc
re

as
ed

 id
en

tif
ic

at
io

n 
of

 e
nd

 o
f l

ife
 n

ee
ds

 –
 G

ol
d 

St
an

da
rd

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

su
rp

ris
e 

qu
es

tio
n 

•P
er

so
n 

ce
nt

re
d 

en
d 

of
 li

fe
 c

ar
e 

pl
an

s 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

ad
va

nc
e 

ca
re

 p
la

ns
)

•W
ho

le
 s

ys
te

m
 E

oL
 &

 P
al

lia
tiv

e 
Ca

re
 c

oo
rd

in
at

io
n 

•V
irt

ua
l H

os
pi

ce
; w

ho
le

 s
ys

te
m

 E
oL

 c
ar

e
•C

on
si

st
en

t e
du

ca
tio

na
l m

od
el

 fo
r E

O
L 

ca
re

 fo
r w

ho
le

 h
ea

lth
 &

 c
ar

e 
ec

on
om

y 
(In

c.
 C

ar
e 

ho
m

es
, W

M
AS

, G
Ps

, D
om

ic
ili

ar
y 

Ca
re

 
Ag

en
ci

es
)

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

 

Pl
an

ne
d 

Ca
re

/I
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

Ca
re

M
an

ag
em

en
t o

f 
LT

Cs
•S

up
po

rt
ed

 s
el

f-
m

an
ag

em
en

t:
 c

on
tin

ue
d 

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f p

at
ie

nt
 h

el
d 

re
co

rd
s 

an
d 

se
lf-

m
an

ag
em

en
t p

la
ns

 (I
nc

. r
ol

l o
ut

 a
nd

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f r

is
k 

st
ra

tif
ic

at
io

n 
sy

st
em

s,
 p

ro
ce

ss
es

 a
nd

 to
ol

s)
 

•I
m

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 L

TC
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

w
ith

 fo
cu

s 
on

 im
pr

ov
ed

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 s

el
f c

ar
e 

an
d 

re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 u
ns

ch
ed

ul
ed

 a
dm

is
si

on
s 

an
d 

re
ad

m
is

si
on

s
• 

Pe
rs

on
 c

en
tr

ed
 c

ar
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 a
cr

os
s 

LT
Cs

 : 
M

ax
im

is
in

g 
se

lf-
ef

fic
ac

y 
ac

ro
ss

 L
TC

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

Pl
an

ne
d 

Ca
re

/I
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

Ca
re

Ca
rd

io
va

sc
ul

ar
 

di
se

as
e

•C
VD

: c
ol

la
bo

ra
te

 w
ith

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 d
el

iv
er

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 a

ct
io

n 
pl

an
 th

at
 u

nd
er

pi
ns

 th
e 

Co
un

ty
’s

 C
VD

 o
ut

co
m

es
 s

tr
at

eg
y.

 T
o 

in
cl

ud
e 

co
m

m
is

si
on

in
g 

of
 in

te
gr

at
ed

 F
am

ili
al

 H
yp

er
ch

ol
es

te
ro

le
m

ia
 fo

r H
er

ef
or

d 
an

d 
W

or
ce

st
er

 a
nd

 Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 N
at

io
na

l D
ia

be
te

s 
Pr

ev
en

tio
n 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

Pr
ev

en
tin

g 
Ill

-
he

al
th

 a
nd

 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

he
al

th
 

H
ea

lth
y 

Li
fe

st
yl

es
 

•W
or

k 
w

ith
 k

ey
 p

ar
tn

er
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
H

er
ef

or
d 

Co
un

ci
l P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lth
, t

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
an

d 
pr

om
ot

e 
sm

ok
in

g 
ce

ss
at

io
n 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 a
lc

oh
ol

 
ab

us
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 to
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

he
al

th
ie

r l
ife

st
yl

es
 •

Em
be

d 
M

EC
C 

in
to

 e
ve

ry
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
an

d 
co

nt
ac

t w
ith

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 s

et
tin

gs
 a

nd
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ed
uc

at
io

na
l p

ro
gr

am
m

e
•S

up
po

rt
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

ac
ro

ss
 p

rim
ar

y,
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 c
ar

e 
an

d 
ca

re
 h

om
es

• 
O

be
si

ty
 - 

A 
w

ho
le

 p
at

hw
ay

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 O
be

si
ty

 p
re

ve
nt

io
n 

an
d 

m
an

ag
em

en
t.

  J
oi

nt
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
 L

A 
im

pl
em

en
t a

n 
in

te
gr

at
ed

 
Pa

th
w

ay
 fo

r A
du

lts
, Y

ou
ng

 P
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

ch
ild

re
n.

 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

Pr
ev

en
tin

g 
Ill

-
he

al
th

 a
nd

 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

he
al

th
 

Pe
rs

on
al

 H
ea

lth
 

Bu
dg

et
s

•E
nh

an
ce

 u
se

 a
nd

 a
va

ila
bi

lit
y 

of
 p

er
so

na
l h

ea
lth

 b
ud

ge
ts

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 n

at
io

na
l r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

35



CC
G

 W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e
A

re
a

D
ra

ft
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Sc

he
m

es
Re

le
va

nt
 p

ro
vi

de
r 

(s
)

Pr
im

ar
y 

Ca
re

Pr
im

ar
y 

Ca
re

 
• 

D
ev

el
op

 th
e 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

CG
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
pl

an
 (i

nc
lu

di
ng

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 a
nd

 G
P 

in
pu

t)
• 

D
el

iv
er

 a
 ro

bu
st

 p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
20

15
/1

6
• 

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 e

ff
ec

tiv
e 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t a

nd
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e
• 

Pr
od

uc
e 

a 
Pr

im
ar

y 
Ca

re
 E

st
at

e 
St

ra
te

gy
 

•E
st

ab
lis

h 
a 

Pr
im

ar
y 

Ca
re

 IM
&

T 
st

ra
te

gy
 u

nd
er

pi
nn

ed
 w

ith
 c

le
ar

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
  

•W
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
SR

G
 to

 d
el

iv
er

 P
rim

ar
y 

Ca
re

 S
er

vi
ce

 R
es

ili
en

ce
 

•D
ev

el
op

 a
 m

od
el

 fo
r s

ev
en

 d
ay

 w
or

ki
ng

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 u

rg
en

t c
ar

e 
se

rv
ic

es
.

Pr
im

ar
y 

Ca
re

Pu
tt

in
g 

Pa
tie

nt
s 

at
 th

e 
he

ar
t o

f 
Ev

er
yt

hi
ng

 w
e 

do

Al
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
• 

Se
ek

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

ex
te

nt
 o

f p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
by

 p
at

ie
nt

 a
nd

 c
ar

er
s 

in
 s

ha
pi

ng
 a

nd
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 c
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
s 

so
 th

at
 

pe
op

le
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
th

e 
ro

le
 th

ey
 c

an
 ta

ke
 in

 th
ei

r o
w

n 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 h
ea

lth
 c

ar
e

• 
W

or
k 

w
ith

 H
ea

th
W

at
ch

 to
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 s
ys

te
m

at
ic

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 p
at

ie
nt

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t t
o 

es
ta

bl
is

h 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
th

at
 e

ns
ur

e 
pa

tie
nt

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 v

ie
w

s 
ar

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 in
 th

e 
st

ep
s 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
 re

-d
es

ig
n

• 
H

ar
ne

ss
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ar
er

s 
Su

pp
or

t t
o 

he
lp

 e
m

be
d 

an
d 

ev
al

ua
te

  l
oc

al
 c

ar
e 

pa
th

w
ay

s 
an

d 
re

fe
rr

al
 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 (e

.g
. H

ea
rt

 F
ai

lu
re

 s
up

po
rt

 g
ro

up
)

• 
Ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
s 

ex
pe

rie
nc

es
 a

re
 c

ol
la

te
d 

an
d 

sh
ar

ed
 w

ith
 c

om
m

is
si

on
er

s

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

U
rg

en
t 

Ca
re

/i
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

ca
re

U
rg

en
t C

ar
e

•C
on

tin
ua

tio
n 

of
 O

ut
co

m
es

 b
as

ed
 c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
an

d 
co

nt
ra

ct
in

g 
of

 a
 w

ho
le

 s
ys

te
m

 c
om

m
un

ity
 fo

cu
se

d 
ur

ge
nt

 c
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
•R

ev
ie

w
, e

va
lu

at
e 

an
d 

re
fo

rm
 th

e 
U

rg
en

t C
ar

e 
pa

th
w

ay
 fo

cu
si

ng
 o

n 
ac

ut
e 

ca
re

, i
nt

er
m

ed
ia

te
 c

ar
e,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

.
•R

e-
co

m
m

is
si

on
 C

om
m

un
ity

 T
ea

m
s 

as
 a

 s
in

gl
e 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 re

so
ur

ce
 a

nd
 e

va
lu

at
e 

th
e 

co
un

ty
-w

id
e 

ro
ll-

ou
t o

f c
om

m
un

ity
 te

am
s,

 
in

te
gr

at
ed

 c
ar

e 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 R

AA
C 

•E
xp

lo
re

 7
 d

ay
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 w

or
ki

ng
 to

 d
el

iv
er

 c
om

m
un

ity
 p

oi
nt

 o
f c

on
ta

ct
 fo

r m
in

or
 u

rg
en

t h
ea

lth
ca

re
 n

ee
d

•R
ed

es
ig

n 
pa

ed
ia

tr
ic

 e
m

er
ge

nc
y 

an
d 

ur
ge

nt
 c

ar
e 

pa
th

w
ay

.
•D

ev
el

op
 a

 m
od

el
 fo

r s
ev

en
 d

ay
 P

rim
ar

y 
Ca

re
 w

or
ki

ng
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 u
rg

en
t c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

.  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
•P

rim
ar

y 
Ca

re
 s

er
vi

ce
 to

 w
or

k 
se

am
le

ss
ly

 w
ith

 in
 h

ou
rs

 7
 d

ay
 P

rim
ar

y 
Ca

re
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

. 

Al
l p

ro
vi

de
rs

36



   

  
Working in partnership for the people of Herefordshire 

Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0ZF 
Herefordshire Council Main Switchboard (01432) 260000, www.herefordshire.gov.uk 

  

  

 
          Directorate Adult Wellbeing  

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL 
Consultation on Local Authority Public Health 
Allocations  
Department of Health  
Public Health Policy and Strategy Unit  
Room 165  
Richmond House  
79 Whitehall  
London  
SW1A 2NS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ref:  RT/ PH Grant Consultation  

Email:  Rod.Thomson@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

Tel:  01432 383535 

 

 

27 August 2015 

 

 

Dear colleague, 

 

PH Grant Consultation Response 2015/2016 

This is our formal response to the consultation on Local Authorities Public Health Allocation 
2015-16 in-year savings.  Herefordshire Council has very reluctantly chosen Option C as the 
least, worst option for our local population of the choices available.  We also would like to 
submit the following documents in support of submission:-  
 

· Final PH Grant consultation for Herefordshire 27 August 2015 

· Appendix 2 Adapting national deprivation indices for rural areas v2 

· Appendix 3 PHE14-01 Rural health (20150120) 

· Appendix 4 PHE15-01 Rural health cover paper 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Professor Rod Thomson FRCN FFPH 
Director of Public Health for Herefordshire 
 

AGENDA ITEM 12

37



38



Version 3 27/08/15 
 

Prof. Rod Thomson, Director of Public Health for Herefordshire 

Public Health Grant Consultation Response 
 
Overview:  
 
Herefordshire Council objects to the decision made by the Chancellor of the Exchequer to 
make a significant in year reduction to the public health grant. In its rationale for establishing 
a ring fenced public health grant within local authorities rather than the NHS, the former 
Secretary of State for Health, Andrew Lansley stated that the government wished to prevent 
public health resources being raided as had happened within the NHS. Whilst the current 
Secretary of State has emphasised the importance of prevention, this in year cut in public 
health resources will adversely affect local authorities’ ability to commission accessible and 
effective services for their local populations. An in year reduction at such short notice also 
does not take into account the contracts that are already in place or the severe funding 
pressures already placed on local government. Reluctantly Herefordshire Council has 
identified Option C as the least, worst option for our local population of the choices available.  
 
Preferred Option: C Flat Rate reduction for every Local Authority 

Rationale: 
 
The Department of Health has stated that its preferred option for implementing the £200m 
cut in the national Public Health grant is a universal 6.2% reduction. Whilst this may have the 
advantage of ease of administration for the Department of Health, it ignores the fundamental 
inequalities in the current allocations and does nothing towards moving towards the 
Department of Health’s stated ambition of achieving a fair funding formula. Rural Authorities 
such as Herefordshire have the costs of providing services that are not adequately taken into 
account by the current funding formula. 
 
Rural Health Inequalities: 
 
As was made clear in the presentations to the Public Health England Board in January 2015, 
rural councils have the same responsibilities to commission public health programmes as 
their urban counterparts, however given the nature of their dispersed communities, there is a 
significant challenge to make such programmes accessible. Whereas urban authorities can 
achieve economies of scale and concentrate services in a small number of centres that are 
relatively well served by public transport, rural authorities cannot do so. Public Health 
England has now commenced a programme of work to review the data available as the 
current deprivation profiles do not adequately take into account rural factors compared to 
urban indices. 
 
The current funding formula used by the Department of Health takes into account the cost 
pressures of funding services in major urban centres such as London, but fails to take into 
account the costs of delivering services in rural communities, including the travel time of 
staff; the need to utilise multiple sites in order to provide appropriate access to patients, the 
cost of fuel and the difficulties of achieving economies of scale. The current Market Forces 
Factor (MFF) that is used to take into account these cost variations gives a significant 
weighting to London boroughs such as Westminster at the expense of rural counties such as 
Herefordshire, e.g. MFF of 1.21 compared to Herefordshire’s MFF of 0.94. The use of such a 
weighting adds to the inequalities in funding rather than reducing them.  
 
The Rural Affairs Select Committee,  the All Party Parliamentary Group on County Councils, 
the Rural Services Network and the County Councils’ Network have in the last 18 months 
highlighted their concerns that the current national funding formulae being used do not 
adequately recognise the needs of rural communities compared to their urban counterparts.  
 

39



Version 3 27/08/15 
 

Prof. Rod Thomson, Director of Public Health for Herefordshire 

Option A: Devise a formula that claims a larger share of the saving from LAs that are 
significantly above their target allocation. 
 
There are merits in this proposal as several local authorities are significantly over their target 
allocations by more the total public health grant for Herefordshire. For rural counties such as 
Hereford there are some fixed costs that it must incur in order to meet the legislative 
requirements such the employment of appropriately qualified staff. As highlighted above the 
current funding formula for the grant does not adequately reflect the challenges of 
commissioning public health services in rural areas. Therefore though Herefordshire is 
identified as being as being over its target allocation this is by a comparatively small amount 
compared to many other Councils. 
 
Option B: Targeting of Local Authority Reserves  
 
Option B proposes the targeting of the unspent reserves of Local Authorities that were 
carried forward into 2015/16. Whilst this may be appropriate for those Local Authorities that 
are significantly over their target allocations, this could adversely affect the plans of those 
authorities that have tried to use their resources prudently. For example there have been 
protracted negotiations with NHS England regarding the transfer of commissioning 
responsibility for health visiting services. For many local authorities there has been 
uncertainty regarding whether NHS England was transferring sufficient funds to meet the 
current service and future service. In view of this uncertainty Herefordshire has had to be 
cautious in committing resources for local programmes until appropriate assurances have 
been given by NHS England regarding Health Visitor funding. In addition Herefordshire 
Council is facing pressures from changes in health services in Wales with increasing 
numbers of people resident in the principality choosing to attend sexual health clinics in 
Herefordshire.  
 
As we approach our third year of local public health teams being based in local authorities 
several major contracts are now in the process of being tendered, including substance 
misuse, sexual health and some health promotion services. Experience has taught that even 
in the most well conducted procurement exercises there is often the need to incur one off 
costs as a service transfers from one provider to another, to ensure continuity of care for 
particular groups of patients.  
 
Option C: Flat Rate reduction for every Local Authority 
 
A flat reduction may at first glance appear to be the fairest way of making the national 
£200m one off reduction in the grant however it does not address the fundamental 
inequalities in the current allocations that have been recognised by Public Health England. A 
flat rate reduction perpetuates these inequalities rather than moving each local authority 
towards its own target. The purpose of the increased allocation to underfunded local 
authorities in 2013/14 and 2014/15 was to move towards a fairer funding settlement 
therefore a flat rate reduction to every council undermines that policy. As the attached 
appendix 1 show there are eight local authorities that are currently over funded (based on 
Department of Health figures) by more than the total public health grant that Herefordshire 
Council receives, i.e. by more than £7.8m. (Prior to the inclusion of the Health Visiting 
budget.)  
 
Option D: Special Need 
 
As indicated above, rural local authorities face significant challenges in commissioning the 
range of accessible services that their populations need. Programmes such as sexual health 
and substance misuse treatment need to meet national quality standards and be accessible 
to populations that are dispersed over a wide area. In Herefordshire’s case connectivity is a 

40



Version 3 27/08/15 
 

Prof. Rod Thomson, Director of Public Health for Herefordshire 

big issue, we have five market towns and the public transport links between them and the 
county town of Hereford are limited. The public transport links from the surrounding villages 
and hamlets are even more restricted. These include a number of isolated hill villages and 
hamlets with poor infrastructure. In view of that the option open to urban areas of 
commissioning a single specialist centre close to the public transport routes is not an option. 
For services such as school nursing, the travel times for staff between the schools that they 
serve are significant, particularly during the winter months. As Herefordshire shares its long 
western border with Wales our services are accessed by the residents of Welsh towns such 
as Hay on Wye. With changes in service provision in Wales, our sexual health services are 
seeing an increase in the number of patients that we are seeing who prefer to access 
provision in Herefordshire rather than in Powys. Several factors influence such choices 
including perceived anonymity of the Herefordshire service, employment in Herefordshire 
makes our services more accessible relatively speaking and clinic visits are combined with 
other activity such as a major shopping trip to Hereford.  
 
As Herefordshire CCG will confirm over many years the cost of running acute hospital 
services within the county have been and are a major drain on NHS resources. The former 
Herefordshire PCT was therefore force to prioritise acute care over prevention whilst dealing 
with the financial deficit that it faced. This has meant that spend on public health 
programmes was lower than it should have been for a population of 186,000 people.  
 
Healthier Lives 
 
According to Public Health England’s Healthier Lives report Herefordshire rates 30th out of 
150 local authorities in terms of its premature mortality rates. This compares to Kensington 
and Chelsea’s rating of 2nd out of 150 local authorities, yet this London borough currently 
receives in its public health grant £21.9m compared to Herefordshire’s £7.8m. The 
population of Kensington and Chelsea is 155,600 compared to Herefordshire 186,000 
people. For the ten Healthier Lives categories, Kensington & Chelsea’s rating is higher than 
Herefordshire’s on six of them. This London borough also benefits from access to higher 
levels of grants and business rates than Herefordshire as well as having a smaller 
geographic area to serve. Kensington and Chelsea’s public transport links includes access 
to an extensive rail and bus service that makes the service that it commissions readily 
accessible to its population. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and its supporting guidance recognised the 
importance of a strong focus on prevention and the need to invest in a range of health 
promotion programmes to reduce the prevalence of long term conditions. The proposed in 
year reduction in the public health grant to local authorities undermines this government 
commitment. For rural authorities such as Herefordshire, the challenge of making these 
public health programmes accessible to its dispersed population is not fully acknowledged 
within the funding formula used by the Department of Health. The attached supporting 
information commissioned by Public Health England highlights the case for a fairer funding 
settlement for rural councils. In addition the significant in year reduction in the public health 
grant that is proposed will undermine local programmes to promote the health and wellbeing 
of our population. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



Version 3 27/08/15 
 

Prof. Rod Thomson, Director of Public Health for Herefordshire 

Appendix1: Briefing Note: Public Health Funding Cuts 
July 2015 

Prof Rod Thomson, Director of Public Health 
 

 

Local Authority Allocation per head Total 15/16 Budget Funding in Addition to 
Target Grant (approx.) 

Blackpool £126 £17.9m 51.5%  £9.2m 
Camden  £112 £26.3m 42%  £11.m 
County Durham  £88 £45.7m   72.5%  £33.1m 
Darlington  £67 £7.1m 11.7% £0.83m 
Derbyshire  £46 £35.6m 11.4%  £4m 
Doncaster  £66 £20.1m   9.1%  £1.8m 
Dudley   £60 £18.9m 28.9% £5.46m   
East Sussex  £46 £24.5m   27.6%  £6.7m 
Gateshead  £78 £15.8m 23%  £3.63m 
Hackney  £117 £29.8m 29.4%  £8.7m. 
Hammersmith  £114 £20.8m   72.4%  £15m 
Hartlepool  £91 £8.4m 22.3%  £1.87m 
Herefordshire  £42 £7.9m 16.2%  £1.27m 
Hull  £87 £22.5m 10%  £2.2m 
Islington  £116 £25.4m 22.3%  £5.6m 
Kensington & Chelsea £133 £21.2m 90.3%  £19.1m 
Kingston  £54 £9.3m 30.6%  £2.84m 
Knowsley  £111 £16.3m   44.1% £7.2m 
Middlesbrough £117 £16.3m 35.7% £5.8m 
Nottingham  £89 £27.8m 4%  £1.1m 
Portsmouth  £77 £16.1m     13.7%  £2.2m 
Redcar £81 £10.9m   46%  £5m 
Richmond  £40 £7.8m 18.1% £1.4m 
Sefton  £73 £19.9m 33% £6.6m 
South Tyneside  £86 £12.9m 44.4%  £5.7m 
St Helens  £74 £13m 22.2%  £2.8m 
Stockton  £67 £13m 9.3%  £1.2m 
Stoke  £80 £20.2m 11.1% £2.2m 
Sunderland  £76 £21.2m 24.5%  £5.2m 
Telford  £64 £10.9m 21.9%  £2.38m 
Torbay  £55 £7.3m 29.2% £2.1m 
Tower Hamlets  £116 £32.2m 16.2%  £5.2m 
Wakefield £62 £20.7m   3.7%  £0.76m 
Wandsworth £80 £25.4m 42%  £10.6m 
Westminster £133 £31.2m 27% £8.4m 
Wigan  £73 £23.6m 18.9%  £4.6m 
Wirral  £82 £26.4m 28%  £7.4m 
Wolverhampton £76 £19.2m 13.3% £2.5m 
Worcestershire £46 £26.5m 23% £6.1m 

42



In
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

in
 R

ur
al

 C
om

m
un

it
ie

s:
 

A
da

pt
in

g 
na

ti
on

al
 d

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 

in
di

ce
s 

fo
r 

ru
ra

l a
re

as
 

D
r D

an
ie

la
 F

ec
ht

 
d.

fe
ch

t@
im

pe
ria

l.a
c.

uk
 

Sm
al

l A
re

a 
H

ea
lth

 S
ta

tis
tic

s 
U

ni
t 

M
RC

-P
H

E 
Ce

nt
re

 fo
r E

nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 H
ea

lth
 

Im
pe

ri
al

 C
ol

le
ge

 L
on

do
n 

43



M
ea

su
re

s 
of

 m
at

er
ia

l d
ep

riv
at

io
n:

  

• C
ar

st
ai

rs
 In

de
x 

• T
ow

ns
en

d 
In

de
x 

N
ee

d 
fo

r p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s 

• J
ar

m
an

 U
nd

er
pr

iv
ile

ge
d 

Ar
ea

 s
co

re
  

Ba
se

d 
on

 c
en

su
s 

da
ta

: 

• I
nd

ex
 o

f D
ep

riv
at

io
n 

• D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f t
he

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t i

nd
ex

 

 

Ba
se

d 
on

 o
th

er
 d

at
a 

so
ur

ce
s:

 

2 

N
at

io
na

l a
re

a-
le

ve
l d

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 

in
di

ce
s 

44



Ce
ns

us
 b

as
ed

 in
di

ce
s:

  
co

m
po

si
te

 m
ea

su
re

s 
of

 d
ep

ri
va

ti
on

 

N
am

e 
Ca

rs
ta

ir
s 

In
de

x 
 

To
w

ns
en

d 
D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 In

de
x 

Ja
rm

an
 U

nd
er

pr
iv

ile
ge

d 
A

re
a 

 
Sc

or
e 

Ce
ns

us
 v

ar
ia

bl
es

 
• 

N
o 

ca
r 

ow
ne

rs
hi

p 

• 
U

ne
m

pl
oy

ed
 m

al
es

 o
ve

r 1
6 

• 
O

ve
rc

ro
w

di
ng

: m
or

e 
th

an
 1

 p
er

so
n 

pe
r r

oo
m

 

• 
H

ea
d 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

 in
 lo

w
 s

oc
ia

l 

cl
as

s 

     …
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

pe
rc

en
t o

f 
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

 in
 a

n 
ar

ea
 w

ith
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

is
tic

s 

• 
N

o 
ca

r 
ow

ne
rs

hi
p 

• 
U

ne
m

pl
oy

ed
 m

al
es

 o
ve

r 1
6 

• 
O

ve
rc

ro
w

di
ng

: m
or

e 
th

an
 1

 p
er

so
n 

pe
r r

oo
m

 

• 
N

o 
ho

m
e 

ow
ne

rs
hi

p 

      …
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

pe
rc

en
t o

f 
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

 in
 a

n 
ar

ea
 w

ith
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

is
tic

s 

• 
U

ne
m

pl
oy

ed
 m

al
es

 o
ve

r 1
6 

• 
O

ve
rc

ro
w

di
ng

: m
or

e 
th

an
 1

 p
er

so
n 

pe
r r

oo
m

 

• 
H

ea
d 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

 in
 lo

w
 s

oc
ia

l 

cl
as

s 

• 
Lo

ne
 p

en
si

on
er

s 

• 
Si

ng
le

 p
ar

en
ts

 

• 
Bo

rn
e 

in
 N

ew
 C

om
m

on
w

ea
lth

 

• 
Ch

ild
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 5
 

• 
O

ne
 y

ea
r m

ig
ra

nt
s 

 …
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

pe
rc

en
t o

f r
es

id
en

ts
 

in
 a

n 
ar

ea
 w

ith
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 

ch
ar

ac
te

ris
tic

s 

W
ei

gh
te

d 
no

 
 

no
 

ye
s 

3 

45



D
er

iv
at

io
n 

of
 C

ar
st

ai
rs

 s
co

re
 fo

r 
an

 a
re

a 

n i i
s 

th
e 

nu
m

er
at

or
 o

f d
ep

riv
at

io
n 

va
ria

bl
e 

X i (
e.

g.
 n

um
be

r o
f u

ne
m

pl
oy

ed
 m

al
es

) 

d i i
s 

th
e 

de
no

m
in

at
or

 o
f d

ep
riv

at
io

n 
va

ria
bl

e 
X i (

e.
g.

 n
um

be
r o

f e
co

no
m

ic
 a

ct
iv

e 
m

al
es

) 

m
i i

s 
th

e 
m

ea
n 

of
 X

i 

s i i
s 

th
e 

st
an

da
rd

 d
ev

ia
tio

n 
of

 X
i 

4 

46



In
de

x 
of

 M
ul

ti
pl

e 
D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 (I

M
D

) 
• O

rig
in

al
ly

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
O

ff
ic

e 
of

 th
e 

D
ep

ut
y 

Pr
im

e 
M

in
is

te
r 

(2
00

0,
 2

00
4)

, n
ow

 C
om

m
un

it
ie

s 
an

d 
Lo

ca
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
(2

00
7,

 2
01

0,
 2

01
5 

[t
o 

be
 re

le
as

ed
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

15
])

 

5 

47



IM
D

 D
er

iv
at

io
n 

  

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t f

or
 C

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 L

oc
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t. 

20
11

. T
he

 E
ng

lis
h 

In
di

ce
s 

of
 D

ep
riv

at
io

n 
20

10
 –

 T
ec

hn
ic

al
 R

ep
or

t. 
6 

48



M
et

ho
ds

: D
ef

in
e 

ru
ra

l a
re

as
 

Ru
ra

l a
re

as
 w

er
e 

de
fin

ed
 u

si
ng

: 

•
O

N
S 

Ru
ra

l a
nd

 U
rb

an
 A

re
a 

Cl
as

si
fic

at
io

n 
20

04
  

   
   

fo
r L

SO
As

 2
00

1 

   
   

Ru
ra

l a
re

as
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

   
   

   
  -

 s
m

al
l t

ow
n 

an
d 

fr
in

ge
s 

   
   

   
  -

 v
ill

ag
es

 
   

   
   

  -
 h

am
le

ts
 a

nd
 is

ol
at

ed
 d

w
el

lin
gs

  
 •

O
N

S 
Ru

ra
l-u

rb
an

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n 
20

11
 

   
   

fo
r C

O
A

s 
20

11
 

   
   

Ru
ra

l a
re

as
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

   
   

   
  -

 ru
ra

l t
ow

n 
an

d 
fr

in
ge

 

   
   

   
  -

 ru
ra

l v
ill

ag
e 

   
   

   
  -

 ru
ra

l h
am

le
t a

nd
 is

ol
at

ed
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 

 

7 

49



M
et

ho
ds

: A
da

pt
in

g 
to

 r
ur

al
 a

re
as

 
•

A
re

as
 (e

.g
. C

O
A

s,
 L

SO
A

s)
 c

la
ss

ifi
ed

 a
s 

ur
ba

n 
w

er
e 

re
m

ov
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

da
ta

  
•

D
ep

ri
va

ti
on

 in
de

x 
w

as
 s

ta
nd

ar
di

se
d 

to
 ru

ra
l a

re
as

 o
nl

y 
w

he
re

 p
os

si
bl

e 
 

•
D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 in

de
x 

sc
or

e 
w

as
 d

iv
id

ed
 in

to
 q

ui
nt

ile
s 

 
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
riv

at
io

n 
20

10
 fo

r L
SO

A
s 

20
01

 
 •

D
ue

 to
 c

om
pl

ex
ity

 o
f I

M
D

 c
al

cu
la

tio
n 

(s
ee

 s
lid

e 
6)

 
th

e 
IM

D
 c

an
no

t b
e 

re
-s

ta
nd

ar
di

se
d 

to
 ru

ra
l a

re
as

 
w

ith
ou

t s
ub

st
an

tia
l m

et
ho

do
lo

gi
ca

l e
ff

or
t.

 
 

•
To

 d
is

pl
ay

 th
e 

he
te

ro
ge

ne
ity

 o
f t

he
 IM

D
 in

 ru
ra

l 
ar

ea
s 

th
e 

IM
D

 (a
nd

 it
s 

do
m

ai
ns

) w
as

 in
st

ea
d 

m
ap

pe
d 

us
in

g 
qu

in
til

es
 s

pe
ci

fic
 to

 ru
ra

l a
re

as
 

on
ly

 (s
ee

 s
lid

es
 1

0 
- 1

7)
. 

 
•

In
 th

e 
IM

D
 c

al
cu

la
ti

on
 s

hr
in

ka
ge

 e
st

im
at

io
n 

is
 

us
ed

 to
 m

ov
e 

LS
O

A
 s

co
re

s 
of

 a
re

as
 w

it
h 

sm
al

l 
po

pu
la

ti
on

 c
ou

nt
s 

(a
nd

 la
rg

e 
st

an
da

rd
 e

rr
or

s)
 

to
w

ar
ds

 th
e 

m
or

e 
ro

bu
st

 L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

ri
ty

 m
ea

n 
(s

ee
 s

lid
e 

6)
. T

hi
s 

m
ig

ht
 p

ot
en

ti
al

ly
 d

is
to

rt
 th

e 
ru

ra
l I

M
D

 in
 a

re
as

 c
lo

se
 to

 u
rb

an
 c

en
tr

es
. 

Ca
rs

ta
irs

 In
de

x 
20

11
 fo

r C
O

As
 2

01
1 

 •
D

ue
 to

 th
e 

re
la

tiv
e 

si
m

pl
ic

ity
 o

f t
he

 
m

et
ho

do
lo

gy
 (s

ee
 s

lid
e 

4)
, t

hi
s 

de
pr

iv
at

io
n 

in
de

x 
ca

n 
be

 re
-s

ta
nd

ar
di

se
d 

to
 ru

ra
l a

re
as

. 
 

•
Re

co
rd

s 
of

 u
rb

an
 C

O
As

 w
er

e 
re

m
ov

ed
 fr

om
 

th
e 

in
pu

t v
ar

ia
bl

es
 a

nd
 s

co
re

s 
w

er
e 

th
en

 re
-

st
an

da
rd

is
ed

 a
nd

 s
um

m
ed

 (f
ol

lo
w

in
g 

th
e 

eq
ua

tio
n 

sh
ow

n 
on

 s
lid

e 
4)

 to
 c

re
at

e 
th

e 
Ru

ra
l C

ar
st

ai
rs

 In
de

x 
(s

ee
 s

lid
e 

9)
. 

 
•

Ca
rs

ta
ir

s 
in

de
x 

in
cl

ud
es

 c
ar

 o
w

ne
rs

hi
p,

 s
o 

al
th

ou
gh

 it
 c

an
 b

e 
st

an
da

rd
is

ed
 t

o 
ru

ra
l 

ar
ea

s,
 th

e 
co

m
po

ne
nt

s 
of

 th
e 

m
ea

su
re

 m
ay

 
no

t b
e 

id
ea

l f
or

 r
ur

al
 a

re
as

 
 

8 

50



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
Ca

rs
ta

ir
s 

In
de

x 
20

11
 fo

r 
CO

A
s 

20
11

  

9 

51



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 M

ul
ti

pl
e 

D
ep

ri
va

ti
on

 (I
M

D
) 2

01
0 

10
 

52



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 In
co

m
e 

D
om

ai
n 

11
 

53



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t 
D

om
ai

n 

12
 

54



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 H
ea

lt
h 

D
om

ai
n 

13
 

55



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 E
du

ca
ti

on
 D

om
ai

n 

14
 

56



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 B
ar

ri
er

s 
to

 H
ou

si
ng

 &
 

Se
rv

ic
es

 D
om

ai
n 

15
 

57



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 
–

 C
ri

m
e 

D
om

ai
n 

16
 

58



Ru
ra

l s
ta

nd
ar

di
sa

ti
on

:  
In

de
x 

of
 D

ep
ri

va
ti

on
 2

01
0 

- L
iv

in
g 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t D

om
ai

n 17
 

59



Co
rr

el
at

io
ns

 b
et

w
ee

n 
IM

D
 a

nd
 it

s 
do

m
ai

ns
: 

ov
er

al
l I

M
D

 a
nd

 r
ur

al
 IM

D
 (l

ig
ht

 g
re

y)
 

IM
D

 
In

co
m

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
H

ea
lth

 
Ed

uc
at

io
n 

H
ou

si
ng

 
Cr

im
e 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

IM
D

 
0.

95
8 

0.
93

6 
0.

85
4 

0.
81

7 
0.

06
9 

0.
66

1 
0.

56
6 

In
co

m
e 

0.
89

3 
0.

89
9 

0.
78

7 
0.

78
6 

0.
04

0 
0.

59
2 

0.
47

8 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

0.
89

6 
0.

89
3 

0.
85

6 
0.

78
1 

-0
.1

09
 

0.
53

9 
0.

39
1 

H
ea

lth
 

0.
76

4 
0.

73
6 

0.
82

0 
0.

68
5 

-0
.1

25
 

0.
55

4 
0.

43
0 

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
0.

81
5 

0.
84

4 
0.

79
3 

0.
65

3 
-0

.1
68

 
0.

49
0 

0.
26

2 

H
ou

si
ng

 
0.

06
6 

-0
.2

39
 

-0
.2

60
 

-0
.2

57
 

-0
.2

64
 

-0
.0

50
 

0.
20

2 

Cr
im

e 
 

0.
37

7 
0.

37
4 

0.
35

9 
0.

29
8 

0.
36

5 
-0

.2
58

 
0.

46
8 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

0.
38

3 
0.

16
9 

0.
11

8 
0.

13
2 

0.
05

6 
0.

41
3 

-0
.0

18
 

18
 

60



Co
nc

lu
si

on
s 

19
 

•
Ad

ap
ta

tio
n 

of
 n

at
io

na
l d

ep
riv

at
io

n 
in

di
ce

s 
fo

r r
ur

al
 a

re
as

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
s 

di
ff

er
en

ce
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

ru
ra

l a
re

as
 th

at
 c

an
 b

e 
m

as
ke

d 
by

 u
si

ng
 

na
tio

na
l i

nd
ic

es
 

•
M

or
e 

w
or

k 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

ne
ed

ed
 to

 in
ve

st
ig

at
e 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

t r
ur

al
-s

pe
ci

fic
 in

di
ce

s,
 d

ra
w

in
g 

on
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

w
or

k 
(e

.g
. b

y 
O

CS
I f

or
 

N
or

fo
lk

 in
 2

00
8 

ht
tp

:/
/o

cs
i.c

o.
uk

/s
po

tli
gh

ts
/r

ur
al

_e
xc

lu
si

on
/ 

) 

61



62



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 1 of 26  

  Rural Health and Health Services 
 

Appendix to the PHE National Board paper  PHE/15/01  

1. Background  
 
1.1. Directors of PH and PHE Centre Directors in rural areas have raised 

challenges and opportunities in relation to rurality and improving public health 
outcomes.  The purpose of this paper is: 
· To explore the issues relating to rurality and health, with guidance from 

each of the local areas represented; and  
· To consider the implications for PHE support and action either at regional 

and/or national level. 
 
2. Rurality  
 
2.1. The Office of National Statistics Rural-Urban Classification1 defines areas as 

rural if they fall outside settlements with more than 10,000 resident population. 
This provides for a distinct rural/urban distinction, and further division into six 
categories: Town and Fringe; Town and Fringe in a sparse setting; Village: 
Village in a sparse setting; Hamlets and Isolated Dwellings; and Hamlets and 
Isolated Dwellings in a sparse setting.  The picture of urban and rural areas by 
local authority and middle-layer super output areas are shown below.     

 
ONS Rural Urban Classification by Local Authority and MSOA at 2011 

 1 Middle Layer Super Output Areas.

Source: Office for National Statistics

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2011

Urban – Less Sparse

Urban – Sparse

Village, Hamlet & Isolated
Dwellings – Sparse

Village, Hamlet & Isolated
Dwellings – Less Sparse

Town & Fringe – Sparse

Town & Fringe – Less Sparse

Taunton

Blackpool Leeds

Southampton

Liverpool

Southend-on-Sea

Nottingham

Exeter

Leicester

Northampton

Carlisle

Brighton
and Hove

Sheffield

Kingston upon Hull

Norwich

Bristol

Oxford

Reading

Stoke-on-Trent

Ipswich

Manchester

Birmingham

Stockton-on-Tees

Newcastle upon Tyne

Bournemouth

Plymouth

Lancaster

Guildford

Portsmouth

Lincoln

London

Folkestone

Cambridge

Map 1       The Rural/Urban Definition for MSOAs1 in England

 
  

 

63



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 2 of 26  

2.2. Rurality has also been described by socio-economic, cultural and other 
dimensions, and rural areas are as varied and difficult to typify as urban 
areas.  In brief, making a circle of England clockwise starting in the north, they 
include the north east and upland farming communities, the Yorkshire dales, 
the agrarian Lincolnshire farms, the fens and east coastal communities, the 
home counties, the south west where in the tourist season the population can 
increase tenfold, the market gardens of Evesham Vale and the orchards of 
Herefordshire, the Marches with many tenant sheep farmers, the Lancashire 
moorlands to the Lake District national park and back into the north of 
Cumbria to the borders.    

 
3. Rural Populations2 
 
3.1. Rural areas are 85% of the English landmass, and on 2011 census data, 

about 9.3 million people (17.6 per cent of the population) lived in rural areas and 
about 570,000 people (1.1% of the population) lived in settlements in a sparse 
setting.  

 
3.2. Rural areas have a larger proportion of older people and smaller proportion of 

young adults.  The population pyramid below shows the hollowing out of the 
younger age group and increased proportion of older men and women relative 
to urban areas.   

 
Population Pyramid for England - mid 2009: Rural/Urban for Men and Women  

Figure 52 Population pyramid for England: by area type, mid-2009 
England   

Percentage of rural/urban population 

54321012345

0–4  

5–9  

10–14

15–19

20–24

25–29

30–34

35–39

40–44

45–49

50–54

55–59

60–64

65–69

70–74

75–79

80–84

85+ 
Males Urban Females Urban

Males Rural Females Rural

  
 

3.3. The young adult (15 to 29 age group) is smaller in rural than in urban areas; 
they are 21.2% of the urban population but only 14.6% of the rural population.  
People over 45 years are more than 50% of those living in rural areas 
compared with about 40% in urban areas. This is even greater in Rural Town 
and Fringe areas where on average 26% of the population are over 65 years 
old and 54% of the population are over 45.  There are various factors involved 
and include both population ageing and migration, inward for older adults and 
outward for younger adults moving for education and employment.  

 

64



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 3 of 26  

3.4. Minority Ethnic Populations3. The percentage of people identifying themselves 
as ‘White British’ in 2011 was 95% in rural areas compared with 77.2% in 
urban areas. The ‘White Other’ was the largest of the ethnic groups in both 
rural and urban areas, ‘Indians’ the third most common in rural areas and 
‘Pakistanis’ and people of African descent were both less than 0.2% of the 
rural population.  

 
3.5. Migrant Workers4.  The Commission for Rural Communities looked the 

position of migrant workers in rural areas, including the challenges posed by 
language, culture, tensions with local communities and other factors.  They 
found a high proportion of migrant workers moving into work in areas such as 
Herefordshire, Lincolnshire and Cambridgeshire, as well as areas around 
Somerset and Devon, the Fens, Norfolk, parts of Cumbria, and the Vale of 
Evesham. These workers also tended to be young adults, compared with the 
older settled rural populations.  

 
3.6. Tourist Populations5. Tourism can swell population numbers greatly in the 

short or longer term, and while very important to the economy in rural or 
remote areas, also poses challenges. For example, in Lincolnshire many 
people retire there but to static caravans (around 27,000) with issues of winter 
warmth, temporary residence (planning requirements prevent 52 week 
residence) and lack of GP registration.   

 
 
4. Issues for Inequalities in Rural Areas 
 
4.1. The maps below show Super Output Areas by rank quintile of the Index of 

Multiple Deprivation 2010 for English rural areas (excluding urban areas) 
alongside a map of rural/urban definitions at 20116.  

 

 
Source. PHE West Midlands KIT  

 

 
England & Wales; 2011 LSOAs: Rural-Urban 
Typology  

 

 
 

65



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 4 of 26  

4.2. It suggests that comparing deprivation between rural areas, there are higher 
levels in the rural north east, south east, south west and the Marches, and 
pockets in central generally less deprived areas.     

 
4.3. It is uncertain how much of the rural population is impacted by social 

deprivation, particularly extreme deprivation which may be persistent across 
generations, and how this translates into poor outcomes.   

 
4.4. There is also the experience of being poor in areas of affluence and how this 

gap between wealth and poverty is experienced by individuals, particularly in 
relatively small communities where it may be very marked. The adverse 
effects on individuals and communities of this differential in wealth has been 
shown by various researchers.7 

 
4.5. There are challenges to mapping inequalities in rural areas which include both 

the relevance of indicator sets and how to identify pockets of deprivation.  The 
IMD 2000 excluded ‘car ownership’ which tends to reflect lack of good public 
transport rather than wealth,8 and included ‘geographical access to services’.  
The IMD 20109 included indicators which tend to reflect rural inequality better 
including; road distance to services such as GPs; housing affordability; 
housing without central heating; and road traffic accidents.    

 
4.6. There are still questions from the DsPH on the working group about the 

current IMD 2010. For example it may not reflect cost of living issues in rural 
areas stemming from reduced choice and availability of services, shops and 
amenities; where transport and communications access may be more limit; 
and the prices of fuel, food and other items may sometimes be higher in rural 
areas. Older rural housing stock is also less energy efficient and more 
expensive to heat. 

 
4.7. In relation to small area deprivation, it can be at a very small level as shown 

below with a housing estate on the border of Birmingham with rural 
Staffordshire and Warwickshire.  On the urban/rural fringe is a small, deprived 
housing estate, which was only identified by analysis at a small level.   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Source: PHE West Midlands KIT 
 
4.8. The list of IMD 2010 indicators is given in Annex A, and it would be interesting 

to understand how well this indicator set does or not provide an accurate 
depiction of relative inequalities in rural or urban areas.  The IMD is being 
updated for 2015 and PHE has submitted a number of comments including 

 

66



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 5 of 26  

           proposals on increasing accessibility to non-technical audiences, a common 
approach with DCLG on assigning LSOAs (lower super output areas) to 
deprivation categories within geographies, and enhancing the ‘housing 
affordability’ indicator.   

 
4.9. Also as important is the identification and analysis of pockets of deprivation. 

Small area analysis is fairly well understood and there is much literature to 
draw on but there needs to be caution because of the risks associated with 
small numbers, eg appropriate geographical boundaries and denominators, 
statistical problems and risks to confidentiality.  PHE could commission work 
on small area public health statistics from the Small Area Health Statistics 
Unit10 (SAHSU) to support public health work in rural areas.  

 
5. Socioeconomic Factors: Some Rural/Urban Comparisons2 
 
5.1. An analysis of the socio-economic status of rural areas published in 2010/1111 

found that in general the quantitative evidence showed rural areas to be better 
off on average than urban areas but worse off for some measures including 
higher fuel and transport costs and high house prices. This study also 
suggested that for rural England, for some indices, there are ‘two 
countrysides’ – a better off, less sparse and more accessible one, and a less 
populous and isolated sparse countryside.  The following data would appear 
to show this where sparsity is distinguished, but they do not reveal small 
pockets of greater deprivation.     

 
5.2. Employment and Earnings2 

 

In 2012 - Employment Urban Rural Rural 
sparse 

Working-age (16-64) people in employment 70.1% 75.3% 74.0% 
Working age people in full-time employment 74.7% 71.9%  
Working age people in rural settlements in part-time 
employment 

 28.1% 31.3% 

Males living in urban/rural areas in full employment 88.4% 89.6%  
Females living in urban/rural areas in full employment 58.8% 52.6%  
Economically active people who were unemployed 8.6% 5.0%  
Working age people not available for work or not seeking work 23.3% 20.9% 23.0% 
    

In 2012 - Earnings Major 
urban 

 Rural 
sparse 

Average workplace-based earnings £26,900  £19,700 
 
5.2.1. Levels of employment appeared to be higher in rural than urban areas and 

there were fewer people unemployed or not available/seeking work, apart 
from in sparse rural areas.  There are fewer rural women in full employment.  
For part-time rural workers there appeared to be more in sparse areas.   

 
 

67



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 6 of 26  

5.2.2. Employment types include farming, home working (or working from home) 
and self-employment which in rural areas is well above national average.  
Rural areas also have higher proportions of small local business units 
(excluding farming) relative to population but they tend to employ fewer 
people than those in urban areas. 

 
5.2.3. For people living and working in their areas, average workplace-based 

earnings are generally lowest in sparse rural areas (around £19,700), and 
highest in major urban areas (around £26,900). However, less sparse areas in 
less sparse areas there are also high levels of household income, and the low 
levels of poverty.    

 
5.2.4. Earnings data are problematic as it is difficult to distinguish between people 

who live in rural areas but commute to work in urban areas and generally 
have higher incomes from those who live and work in rural areas who 
generally have lower incomes; rural incomes are at least partially dependent 
on the ability to commute, especially for full-time workers and for men.  

 
5.3. Education, Qualifications and Skills2 
 

% leaving Key stage 4 with 5 A-C GCSEs (based on residency) 2007/8 2012/13 
Urban areas 63.4 83.2 
Rural areas 69.7 83.1 
   
Full-time entrants to higher education/1,000 18-20 year olds 2004/5 2011/12 
Predominantly urban 117 151 
Predominantly rural 121 165 
   
Proportion of working age population with at least one 
qualification (residency based) 

2004 2011 

Predominantly urban 84.1 88.8 
Predominantly rural 87.1 91.3 
   
Proportion of working age population with NVQ level 4 
(residency based) 

2004 2011 

Predominantly urban 25.2 32.6 
Predominantly rural 27.1 31.9 
   
Qualified to degree level:  Urban – lower, Rural - higher   

 
5.3.1. The pattern for both urban and rural is one of improvement from 2004 to 

2011. The levels of people qualified to at least degree level or equivalent, or 
working in higher managerial or professional occupations are higher than 
average in rural areas but average or below average in sparse areas.  It 
should be noted that the patterns are complicated by the issue of residency of 
person and location of institution as some pupils or students will travel to 
urban areas for education or vice versa.   

 

68



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 7 of 26  

5.4. Crime2 
 

2012/13 Predominantly 
urban 

Predominantly 
rural 

Rate of violence against the person/1,000 people 12.3 7.2 
Rate of sexual offences/1,000 people 1.1 0.7 
Rate of recorded crime for robbery offences/1,000 people  2.6 (9x rural) Much lower 
Rate of recorded crime for domestic burglary/1,000 people  12.8 4.8 
Rate of vehicle offences/1,000 people 8.4 4.2 

 
5.4.1. For violent and other types of crime, the rates in rural areas are much lower 

than in urban areas, making it a safer place to be on the face of it.  However, 
this does not include business crimes that affect rural communities such as 
theft of livestock and machinery.  

 
5.5. Fuel Poverty 
 
5.5.1. Households in fuel poverty are at risk of being unable to heat their homes to 

an adequate standard, and less able to spend their income on other 
amenities.  As the maps and data below show, there are higher rates of fuel 
poverty in rural than urban areas, and this increases with greater rurality.  The 
rates have declined since 2006 but the rates are still high in sparse rural 
areas.  The following maps show the distribution of fuel poverty set alongside 
rural/urban definitions.   

 
 
 Urban  Rural Sparse rural 
Households in fuel poverty 2006 10.7% 15.3% 38.9% 
Households in fuel poverty 2010 15.9% 18.4% 34.1% 
Households off the gas grid 2009 9% 38% 64% 
 
 

69



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 8 of 26  

  Using the low income high cost (LIHC) measure of fuel poverty, National 
Energy Action (NEA) identified in a 2013 report that there were 2.6 million 
households in England that were fuel poor, of which 500,000 lived in rural 
locations, which is a much higher proportion relative to total population.  The 
properties in rural or off gas locations were statistically more likely to be 
larger, detached or older, and the conclusion of the report was that while there 
were more fuel poor households in urban areas, the problem of fuel poverty is 
‘…likely to be most acute in many rural and off gas locations.’12  

 
5.6. Rurality and Income 
 
5.6.1. A report in 2011 looked at the question of needs and costs of households in 

relation to rurality, in particular how costs for rural households might be 
different from those for urban households.13  It found that, based on April 2010 
prices, some things might be cheaper for rural households (eg primary school 
children leisure activities), many household requirements were the same, and 
in some critical areas, rural households faced additional costs. Their overview 
is summarised below.  

 
Overview of areas of different and additional rural costs by commodity 
Commodity category Rural difference 

Transport   Key difference in terms of mode of transport and distances 
travelled. 

Fuel (heating and power) Key difference in terms of fuel type and housing type. 
Food No difference except additional transport costs. 
Clothes Some difference in terms of outdoor wear. Additional 

transport costs. 
Household goods Some difference: heating back-up and gardening. 

Additional transport costs. 
Communication Some difference: Internet and newspapers. 
Personal goods and services, 
including healthcare 

No difference except additional transport costs. 

Social and cultural participation Some direct cost difference for some households; 
additional transport costs for all households. 

   
Additional weekly rural costs for four rural household types. 

 Rural town Village Hamlet 
Pensioner couple £2.26 (1%) £43.00 (19%) £48.08 (22%) 
Single working age adult, no children £15.98 (9%) £31.92 (18%) £41.37 (24%) 
Working age couple, two children £46.67 (12%) £59.52 (15%) £72.20 (18%) 
Lone parent, one child £21.98 (9%) £33.65 (14%) £36.81 (16%) 

 
    What these data show, for costs at that time, and using the minimum income 

standard methodology, is the major impact of sparsity and transport costs, 
and the significant impact that the additional costs would have for poorer 
households. 

 
 
 
 
 

70



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 9 of 26  

6.  Health of Rural Populations 
 
6.1. The health of people in rural areas is on average better than that of urban 

areas.  Rural health and services have been the subject of reports in recent 
years in England,14,15,16 Wales17 and Scotland18 and all note that rates of ill-
health by many indicators are worse in urban areas.  A DEFRA summary19 of 
recent key indicators shows that:  
· Overall health outcomes are more favourable in rural than urban areas, 

particularly in sparse areas.  
· Average life expectancy is highest in Rural-80 areas.  
· Infant mortality is lower in rural areas than in England as a whole.  
· Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from common causes of death such as 

cancers, Coronary Heart Disease (CHD) and stroke is lower in rural areas.  
 

Potential years of life lost per 10,000 in England 2010-12 
 All cancers CHD Stroke Suicide & Undetermined 

injuries 
Predominantly urban 144.5 44.3 14.6 32.5 
Predominantly rural 128.7 31.8 11.0 34.3 
 
6.2. The same reports also, however, acknowledge the masking of deprivation and 

ill-health and the diverse experience of rural communities, just as much as 
urban communities.  The map of IMD 2010 indices for rural health show some 
of the distribution of ill-health across rural England, in the north east, east 
coastal, south west and Marches stand out, but also high levels in south 
Yorkshire and north/central east Midlands, much of it town fringe.  

 
IMD for Health in Rural Areas by Quintile 

 
Source. PHE West Midlands KIT 

 
 
 

71



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 10 of 26  

6.3. There are, moreover, some clear problems for rural areas. 
 
6.3.1. Older populations growing older.  While rates of ill-health on common 

conditions associated with ageing such as cancers, stroke and heart disease 
are on average lower in rural areas, the prevalence of these conditions will be 
higher, although older rural populations are healthier.    
 

6.3.2. Road traffic accidents. The Dept of Transport20,21 recently identified road 
traffic accidents as a major problem on rural roads. It found that 60% of 
fatalities occurred on country roads; three people died each day on average 
which is nearly 11 times higher than on motorways; a quarter of drivers have 
had a near miss and 1 driver in 20 has had a collision on a country road. It is 
not specified whether these were rural or urban drivers, but the issue is stark 
for all users of rural roads.   
 

6.3.3. Suicide and undetermined injury risk where this may be higher in farming 
communities, and may be due to various factors related to isolation, and ease 
of access to the means of suicide such as guns and poisons. 

 
6.3.4. Risks associated with farming populations such as accidents, and ill health 

related to zoonoses.   Zoonoses are a problem both for diseases spread to 
humans (eg E coli) and between animals, which pose both a health and 
business impact. For example, the foot-and-mouth outbreak of 200122 
involved the deaths of nearly four million animals in the UK, and profoundly 
affected thousands of farmers' livelihoods. The Countryside Agency estimated 
the cost to UK farming in 2001 at between £800m and £2.4bn and the cost to 
tourism at about at least £2 - £3bn.  

 
7. Resource Allocation for Rural Communities 
 
7.1. The costs of providing care in rural areas and the development of appropriate 

funding formulas have been considered over a period of years by the 
independent Advisory Committee on Resource Allocation (ACRA) which 
advises on the distribution of health funding. Indeed the ambulance funding 
formula has had an element to cover additional rural costs. While there is 
limited evidence of additional costs there is a strong logic case for the 
additional costs associated with the provision of community services in 
particular. Scotland uses an approach to adjust for extra costs based on travel 
times, and approach which might provide the basis for an adjustment to the 
NHS funding formula used in England. 

 
8. Rural Proofing of Products and Tools 
 
8.1. NHS England, the Dept for Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), 

the Welsh Assembly and the Scottish Government have developed strategies 
and tools for rural proofing over the past few years.  These include challenges 
of rurality and service design,23,24 rural proofing guidance25 and NHS England  

 

72



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 11 of 26  

commissioner guidance for rural Clinical Commissioning Groups26.  The 
DEFRA Rural Proofing Guidelines make suggestions as follows.  

 
DEFRA Rural Proofing Guidelines - Summary  

  
How to Rural Proof. Possible Actions to Take 
 

· Allow for higher rural unit delivery costs in funding formulae or 
allocations 

  
· Look at alternative means of providing and accessing the services in 

rural areas, e.g. through the use of volunteers or social enterprise  
 
· Encourage alternative delivery through the possible use of volunteers 

or the mutualisation of service delivery  
 
· Reduce the need to travel by using outreach, mobile services or 

localised delivery  
 
· Consider better integration or improvement of transport links  
 
· Allow local delivery bodies flexibility to find the best local solution(s); 

avoid a “one-size-fits-all” approach  
 
· Use the rural networks and meeting points that do exist, for example 

post offices, village halls, parish notice boards  
 
· Ensure the needs of smaller businesses are specifically addressed  
 
· Use small area based data to identify social, economic and 

environmental differences that need to be accounted for in the policy  
 
· Engage with rural stakeholders and their networks so you can gather 

evidence and test your proposals 
 

 
 
8.3. Rural Proofing for PHE Products and Services 
 
 Public Health England has a responsibility to all localities to support them to 

deliver effective provision for public health.  PHE could play a key advocacy 
role to support the investigation and monitoring of rural health experience and 
to ensure proofing of public health tools and products.  The development of 
small area analytical support is major contribution and there is also a question 
of how to make these initiatives work in small communities.  For example, 
interventions such as NHS Health Check27 and Making Every Contact Count 
rely for their population effect on reaching large numbers.  In rural areas, 
these initiatives will still reach large sectors of the population, but there are  

 

73



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 12 of 26  

 some who may be at a disadvantage because of small numbers, sparsity, and 
for many of the same reasons as more deprived people in urban areas.   
 

 Some examples of how the DEFRA proofing might apply to public health are 
as follows: 
 
Higher rural unit delivery costs:  It is not clear whether NICE or other expert 
bodies look at the rural dimension in their work on the evidence-base and cost 
effectiveness methodology for public health.  As their guidance is fundamental 
to PHE advice giving to others it may be useful to open discussion on this to 
support advice to the rural PH community.  
 
Alternative means of provision, access and delivery:  Placing less 
reliance on people accessing services and looking at the options for provision 
in community or work settings.  Such approaches were adopted in relation to 
provision of mental health support to the farming community after the foot and 
mouth outbreak, which reached farmers in their settings and also deployed 
support from veterinary staff and others. 
  
Reduce the need to travel by using outreach, mobile services or localised 
delivery.   This picks up the previous theme but also raises questions about 
PHE products that rely on e-delivery, unless internet and mobile access is 
available, fast and reliable.   

 
Better integration or improvement of transport links.  This relates more to 
health and care service provision but also has a bearing on public health 
service delivery.  It does raise questions about the role of PHE in supporting 
localities to promote better transport in rural areas.     

 
Flexibility to find the best local solution(s) (to avoid a “one-size-fits-all”). 
As an example, PHE currently promotes walking as a strategy for physical 
exercise.  The evidence suggests that rural people walk about half the 
distance of people in urban areas, which probably relates to the dangers of 
rural roads, including the lack of pavements. An approach to physical exercise 
needs to recognise this. 

 
Rural networks and meeting points.  There are facilities in many rural 
settings, such as post offices, schools and village halls and other communal 
settings, but rural communities are also often faced with the loss of these 
amenities so there needs to be caution by PHE about assumptions about 
what is available, and what is used by the community.       

 
Needs of smaller businesses.  There are many small businesses in rural 
areas, and they are significant small local employers, both in farming and 
other sectors.  It is important to consider how to support and work with them in 
recognition of how they help to sustain rural communities, and also to help 
prevent problems they may pose to health.  One example is that of farm visits, 
 

74



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 13 of 26  

which attract visitors and hence revenue but where it is important to ensure 
they do not pose infection risks such as E-Coli.      

 
Use small area based data.  This has already been discussed as an 
important factor for rural areas.   

 
Engagement with rural stakeholders.  Rural localities build a lot of 
engagement with their local communities and organisations.  National 
organisations such as the Action for Communities in Rural England28 and 
National Council for Voluntary Organisations29 would provide a route for 
national engagement in addition to being a resource around community needs 
and action through the contacts and support they give.  

 
9. Sustainable Health and Care Service Delivery in Sparse Rural Areas 
 
9.1. The issue of service access30 is a major concern for rural areas.  Reports cite 

factors such as distance, time taken in travelling for both users and 
professionals, access to public transport, limited choice of provision and 
limited service operating hours.  This is complemented by what anecdotally is 
thought to be rural user reticence to make demands on services, due to a 
culture of self-sufficiency or other factors.  The issues around service 
provision are also complicated by fluctuating populations including migrant 
workers and holiday populations.   

 
9.2. There is a complex and difficult problem of how to design in choice and 

plurality in service access while maintaining a high level of quality and safety.   
Choice and plurality is strongly governed by having ready access to a 
spectrum of service provision.  This has been identified as an important issue 
for rural communities across many services, not just health29.  It has several 
components including: 

 
· Access in relation to distance both for patients travelling to services, and 

for service professionals travelling to people in their homes. Journeys are 
longer, and hence costlier, to patients and to services.  

· Access in relation to telecommunications and other infrastructure. 

· Opening hours and appointment times have an extra edge for people who 
have to make long distance journeys; an 8.30 appointment may involve an 
overnight hotel stay. 

· Concerns about ‘distance decay’ where people may delay accessing 
services due to distance from provision.  

· Access to rapid interventions, where timeliness is essential for a good 
prognosis, such as acute CVD episodes. 

 

75



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 14 of 26  

· Workforce issues including both capacity and capability; some rural areas 
indicated difficulties in attracting and retaining appropriately trained staff at 
all levels across both health and social care and that this was impacting on 
the ability to sustain safe, high quality services.  
 

· Spectrum of service provision (this dimension has been termed clinical 
peripherality31) which is a mix of what services ostensibly provide with 
what rural health care workers actually do;  
 

· Concerns about delivery of high quality community care for people with 
chronic and complex needs, in particular the frail older population, in the 
context of an increasingly ageing population. Scotland has also noted a 
higher palliative care workload as people in remote areas had a higher 
preference for dying at home.   

· People’s expectations of health care; they may use primary care more 
where urban people would access hospital services, eg for heart pain. 

 
9.3. Examples of Challenge for Rural Areas  

The National Audit Office recent review of maternity services looked at drive 
time for obstetric and midwifery-led units32.  It found that between 2007 and 
2013, the average drive time to the nearest unit was constant at 13 minutes 
and the estimate of women of childbearing age living within a 60-minute drive 
increased from 97% to 99%.   However, there were still a few areas where 
women lack a meaningful choice of type of maternity unit. For instance, in the 
areas shaded in dark red on the map, women have over an hour’s drive to 
reach both types of unit.  

 

 

 

76



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 15 of 26  

Distance is also a challenge for access to hospital and primary care services 
as the data below show, particularly in sparse areas.  
 

No of households by distance 

Distance Sparse Rural Urban 

GP surgeries (All sites) (4km) 2011 <= 4K 22,810 3,513,500 18,171,910 

>4K 47,220 899,100 11,570 

Hospitals (8km) 2011 <= 8K 15,370 2,424,150 17,585,520 

>8K 54,670 1,988,460 597,960 

Pharmacies (4km) 2011 <= 4K 15,540 2,891,860 18,171,770 

>4K 54,490 1,520,730 11,710 
 

Distance decay33  
Pharmacy and GP experience suggest that the further people live from 
primary care services, the less likely they are to access those services.   
 
Rapid access   
Stroke Units (SU) and thrombolysis have rationalised services for wider 
patient benefit and the hyperacute stroke service model is being rolled out in 
some areas. It has been noted that in rural areas, long travel times may offset 
some of the benefits of SUs, and rapid specialist review may rely upon a 
greater use of telemedicine, communication technology that allows specialists 
to diagnose and advise treatment of patients remotely34.  

 
Workforce  
There is evidence of challenges in recruitment of health care workers to rural 
areas.   Scotland is developing strategy to address the needs for health care 
professionals.35   
 
Social care36  
A SCIE report from 2007 asserted there was considerable variability in the 
provision of services to people living in rural areas and that overall, they are 
less likely to receive services comparable with their urban counterparts. They 
noted that they cost more to deliver, and that efforts to ensure equity, in terms 
of the standards and levels of service provision through policy initiatives such 
as 'rural standards’ and 'rural proofing’, have had mixed success. 

 
9.4. Developing Models of Health Care for Rural Areas 
 
9.4.1. NHS England has recently launched its Five Year Forward View which 

proposes both a strong emphasis on prevention, and starts to suggest how 
services should start to look in the future, with particular emphasis on 
expanding and strengthening primary care and out-of-hospital services.37    

 
9.4.2. The document recognises that ‘one size does not fit all’ and makes reference 

to the differences between an urban area such as Coventry and a rural area 
with a lot of sparsity such as Cumbria.  It cites examples of models of care  

77



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 16 of 26  

 and notes that ‘Cumbria, Devon and Northumberland have quite a lot in 
common in designing their NHS of the future.’   It would be a good opportunity 
to take this as framework and apply rural proofing principles in relation to the 
future design of services for rural areas.  

 
9.4.3. It is also an opportunity to look at how best to use resources in rural areas.  

Service costs are often cited as a problem for rural areas. These may or may 
not be greater than for urban areas but the distribution of resource within local 
authorities means there may be far less actual provision for rural 
communities.  The issues include having to maintain funding for existing 
provision such as unviable hospitals which are not appropriate and where 
alternative forms of provision would be a much better use of the resource, in 
line with the approaches in the NHS Five Year Forward View.       

 
9.4.4. The examples of models proposed in effect shift all but the most specialised 

and emergency and urgent care away from large hospitals into community-
based service models which bring together a range of provision to build care 
around the patient.  The types of model proposed are:  

 
· Multispecialty Community Providers where groups of GPs combine 

with nurses, other community health services, hospital specialists and 
perhaps mental health and social care to create integrated out-of-
hospital care.  

 
· Primary and Acute Care Systems which integrate hospital and 

primary care provision –– combining for the first time general practice 
and hospital services, similar to the Accountable Care Organisations 
now developing in other countries too. 

 
· Urgent and emergency care redesign across the NHS to integrate 

between A&E departments, GP out-of-hours services, urgent care 
centres, NHS 111, and ambulance services.  

 
· Smaller hospitals will have new options to help them remain viable, 

including forming partnerships with other hospitals further afield, and 
partnering with specialist hospitals to provide more local services.  

 
· Midwives will have new options to take charge of the maternity 

services they offer.  
 

· More NHS support for frail older people living in care homes. 
 
9.4.5. The focus on models of out of hospital care, the maintenance of smaller 

hospitals and greater service integration resonate with some of the proposals 
for rural proofing but would need to be worked on and tested by 
commissioners and providers.  It would be important for rural expertise to be 
engaged in work on health service design.   

 

78



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 17 of 26  

 
9.5. Cross Boundary Flows with Devolved Administrations  
 
9.5.1. There is a need to take account of the cross-boundary flows with devolved 

administrations.  This particularly affects English local authorities and health 
trusts bordering Wales and Scotland. Current local government and NHS 
boundaries do not reflect the ‘natural’ communities and how populations use 
public and commercial services, due to factors such as public transport 
routes, proximity of the cross border service and location of employment.  For 
example, Shrewsbury is seen by many people in Powys as their market town 
and the Royal Shrewsbury Hospital their local hospital.   

 
9.5.2. As some of the services offered by the NHS vary between England and Wales 

there is the potential for variations in access to health care programmes. This, 
for example, affects population screening services. This can be particularly 
complex where patients are resident on one side of the border but are 
registered with a GP surgery on the other side of the border.   

 
9.5.3. In relation to NHS funds, the Scottish health board would be the responsible 

commissioner for any patients resident in Scotland who are treated in 
England.  Similarly, there is national agreement about how patients will be 
managed by the NHS regarding responsible commissioner between Wales 
and border CCGs in England, 

 
9.5.4. However, there is an issue for Local Authority commissioned open access 

services such as sexual health, for which demand continues to rise.  There is 
no explicit arrangement and it is down to the LAs to agree arrangements 
individually. For sexual health services, Welsh residents accessing a clinic in 
England do not have their Local Authority of residence recharged for the cost 
of this service as would happen if they resided in England. This places a 
burden of the host local authority particularly as rural councils generally 
receive a lower per capita grant than urban areas. Local Authorities that 
border Wales have been in discussion with the Welsh administration on how 
best to manage cross boundary issues regarding open access services.  

 
10. Transport, Telecommunications, Utilities and Other Services 
 
10.1. Transport is essential in providing people with access to work, learning, health 

care, food shops and leisure activities38. It is an ongoing issue for rural areas, 
many of which are poorly supplied with both bus and rail provision for both 
long and short journeys.  

 
 

 
Transport Data Comparing Rural and Urban Areas 

2008-12 Trips 

/person 

Trip length 

(m)/person 

Distance travelled 

(m)/person 

Walk 

(m)/person 

Urban 959 6.4 6,158 202 
Rural town & fringe 1002 8.7 8,763 152 

79



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 18 of 26  

Rural villages, hamlets, 

isolated dwellings 
990 10.2 10,057 109 

     
2012 Car/van access Regular bus nearby 

Urban households 72% 96% 
Rural households (more 

likely to have two cars) 

89% 49% 

 
10.2. The data above show how people in rural areas travel longer distances than 

people in urban areas, and have much less access to bus services.  About 
88% of trips in rural areas were made by car compared with 76% in urban 
areas.  Travel is also more costly; the same report cites the figure that 
households in the smallest rural settlements spent £90 per week on travel in 
2009, both because of distances, and having to pay more at the pump. 39 

 
10.3. Bus availability is expressed as the percentage of households where the 

nearest bus stop is within 13 minutes walk, and where there is a service at 
least once an hour. This access is far less for rural than urban areas, although 
it is reported to have increased from 38-49% between 2011 and 2012. 
Notwithstanding this increase, it still leaves half the rural population with 
limited bus accessibility.  

 
10.4. The ‘walking’ data are also interesting and show that people in rural villages, 

hamlets and isolated dwellings walk about half the distance of people in urban 
areas. Access to activities such as running or walking is a particular challenge 
for rural areas; roads often have no pavements, and ‘green space’ may not be 
readily accessible due to factors such as land layout and access permissions.  

 
10.5. Telecommunications 
 

Telecommunications have been proposed as a means of improving access, 
including for example, telemedicine.  While rural people are big users of these 
services and many get a good service, utilities need to recoup the costs 
necessary to roll out and maintain services which make it a challenge to 
provide services to the same level as more highly populated areas.  

 
10.5.1 Broadband coverage 
 
  The uptake of broadband40 is high in rural areas, but the performance, 

particularly in sparse rural areas is poor.  Average actual download speeds 
are lower in rural areas because of longer line length and lower availability of 
both fibre and cable broadband. This has also prompted fewer rural 
customers to upgrade to superfast broadband.  Broadband speeds are 
increasing but at a lower rates than in rural areas as the figure below shows41.   
 
Average download speeds (Mbits/s) for fixed broadband connections over time 
  

   

urururalalalalalalalalalalalalalalalal h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h heaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaealtltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltltlth h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h - ApApApApApApApApApApApApApApApAppepepepepepepepepepepepepepepependndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndixixixixixixix 1 1 1 1 1 1 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (201515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515010101010101010101010101010101010101010101010101010101010101010101010101012020202020202020202020).doc ( (   cc 20/01/20202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020202020201515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515151515 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 13:3:3:3:3:3:3:3:3:

80



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 19 of 26  

  The position is improving and the government has pledged to improve access 
and achieve full coverage, with particular recognition of rural areas42, but it 
leaves questions about the options for remedies such as telemedicine, which 
requires a lot of data for processes such as image transfer, is a viable service 
option until superfast broadband is available to everyone.    
 

10.5.2 Mobile coverage   
 
Mobile phone coverage is also a problem in sparse rural43  areas as a 
screenshot map showing parts of the midlands and north shows.  
 

UK Mobile Coverage (the four main providers): to October 1st 
2014 

 
10.6. Other Utilities 
 

Gas utility provision is estimated by household gas meter point.44 Being off 
gas grid affects both urban and rural households. In urban areas it is usually 
because there is no connection within properties such as blocks of flats, 
whereas in rural areas it is because of distance from the grid.  Being off-grid 
forces people to rely either on electricity or more expensive canister gas or 
fossil fuels.  The following map shows postcodes of the UK which do and do 
not have access to a gas supply; those that do not are in white.  
 

Postcodes of areas on and off gas grid 
 

 

81



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 20 of 26  

10.7. Other Infrastructure and Amenities 
 
Other infrastructure such as postal deliveries, shops, leisure, education and 
other amenities are a major issue for rural areas.  The Plunkett Foundation 
estimates that around 400 commercial village shops close each year and 
around 28 pubs a week45.  The Royal Mail offers a universal service but there 
are concerns about future commitment to current service to remote areas46.  
There are concerns about access to over-the-counter banking services47, 
which will affect both urban high streets and market towns, where the impact 
on rural communities will not be easily alleviated by remedies such as 
relocation to supermarkets and greater use of broadband.   

 
 
11. Developing Communities of Interest  
 
11.1 There is reference throughout the literature to the strength and resilience of 

rural communities, although there is also some reference to more negative 
aspects such as being ‘different’ within a rural context and the stigma and 
isolation that people can experience48.   

 
11.2. Rural communities have considerable resources and experience and a wide 

spectrum of skills and knowledge.  They are areas where small business 
appears to be the most flourishing business model, and there is either real or 
potential scope for serious voluntary sector and community engagement on 
how localities are developed and run.  Some government initiatives are likely 
to foster this and the Action with Communities in Rural England is taking a 
close interest, which suggests the benefit which they could bring to rural 
communities. They include:  
 
· An emerging government programme the Rural Development 

Programme49 for England, which aims to improve the environment, 
support business or promote growth in the local economy.  

 
· The DCLG programme ‘Giving people more power over what happens in 

their neighbourhood’ 50 which gives communities new rights in relation to 
amenities, local service delivery and the planning of new developments.  It 
offers, for example, the Community Right to Bid, which gives community 
groups the right to buy community buildings and facilities; and the 
Community Right to Challenge, which allows voluntary and community 
groups, and others to bid to run a local authority service where they 
believe they can do so differently and better.  

 
11.3. Local councils and services in rural areas have a lot of expertise in relation to 

engagement and there are many good examples of local initiatives in Norfolk, 
Shropshire, Lincolnshire, Suffolk, Cornwall and other areas with rural 
populations 51.     

 
 

82



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 21 of 26  

11.4. Rural communities are themselves responding to the challenges of provision 
by setting up their own community-owned enterprises such as shops and 
pubs, food and farming enterprises and other forms of community ownership. 
An organisation that provides support for these initiatives reported that by the 
end of 2013, it had helped 319 community shops and 22 co-operative pubs to 
open and start trading.52   

 
11.5. There are questions for public health about how to engage with these 

initiatives, both with localities and working with stakeholders such as Action 
with Communities in Rural England which is already a source of expertise, 
acting to help build communities of interest; providing advocacy, expertise, 
platforms for information sharing and other support.    

 
 
12.    Acknowledgements 
 
12.1. The author would like to acknowledge the support of the working group in the 

preparation of this paper.  
 

Rashmi Shukla   PHE Director, Midlands and East 
Jonathan Marron  PHE Director of Strategy 
Tessa Lindfield   Director of Public Health, Suffolk County Council 
Tony Hill   Director of Public Health, Lincolnshire County Council 
Rod Thomson  Director of Public Health, Shropshire County Council  
Lucy Macleod   Director of Public Health (interim), Norfolk County Council 
Debra Lapthorne PHE Centre Director, Devon, Cornwall & Somerset 
Jane Rossini  PHE Centre Director, Cumbria & Lancashire  
 

83



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 22 of 26  

Annex A. Index of Multiple Deprivation  2010 Indicators  
Income 
Deprivation 
Domain  
 

Adults and children in Income Support families 
2. Adults and children in income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance families 
3. Adults and children in Pension Credit (Guarantee) families 
4. Adults and children in Child Tax Credit families  
5. Asylum seekers in England in receipt of subsistence support, accommodation support, or both 
6. Claimants of Jobseeker’s Allowance  
7. Claimants of Incapacity Benefit  
8. Claimants of Severe Disablement Allowance  
9. Claimants of Employment and Support Allowance  
10. Participants in New Deal for the 18-24s who are not in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance,  
11. Participants in New Deal for 25+ who are not in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance 
12. Participants in New Deal for Lone Parents  

Health 
Deprivation and 
Disability Domain 

13. Years of Potential Life Lost 
14. Comparative Illness and Disability Ratio 
15. Acute morbidity 
16. Mood or anxiety disorders 

Education Skills 
and Training 
Deprivation 
Domain 

17. Key Stage 2 attainment 
18. Key Stage 3 attainment 
19. Key Stage 4 attainment 
20. Secondary school absence 
21. Staying on in education post 16 
22. Entry to higher education 
23. Adult skills 

Barriers to 
Housing and 
Services Domain 

24. Household overcrowding 
25. Homelessness 
26. Housing affordability 
27. Road distance to a GP surgery 
28. Road distance to a supermarket or convenience store 
29. Road distance to a primary school 
30. Road distance to a Post Office 

Crime Domain 31. Violence 
32. Burglary 
33. Theft 
34. Criminal damage 

Living 
Environment 
Deprivation 
Domain 

35. Housing in poor condition 
36. Houses without central heating 
37. Air quality 
38. Road traffic accidents 

 
 
 

84



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 23 of 26  

References 
                                                           
1 DEFRA Rural Urban Classification. Available at:  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/rural-
urban-definition 
 
2 DEFRA Statistical Digest of Rural England 2014. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/288991/Statistical_Dige
st_of_Rural_England_2014_March.pdf 
 
3 Office for National Statistics. 2011 Census Analysis – Comparing Rural and Urban Areas of England 
and Wales. November 2013. Available at: http://ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_337939.pdf 
 
4   HMP Lords Select Committee on Economic Affairs. Memorandum by the Commission for Rural 
Communities. Date not specified – c.2006/7  Available at: 
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200708/ldselect/ldeconaf/82/82we15.htm 
 
5 Office for National Statistics. The Geography of Tourism Employment. November 2012. Available at: 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_287932.pdf 
 
6  DEFRA, DCLG, ONS and the Welsh Assembly. Urban and Rural Area Definitions for Policy 
Purposes in England and Wales: Methodology (v1.0). August 2013. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/239477/RUC11method
ologypaperaug_28_Aug.pdf 
 
7 Wilkinson RG and Pickett K. The Spirit Level: Why More Equal Societies Almost Always Do Better. 
2009. Allen Lane. London. 

8 Haynes R and Gayle S.  Deprivation and poor health in rural areas: inequalities hidden by averages. 
Health Place. 2000 Dec;6(4):275-85. 
 
9 Communities and Local Government. The English Indices of Deprivation 2010. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2010 
 
10 Small Area Health Statistics Unit. MRC-PHE Centre for Environment and Health Available at: 
http://www.sahsu.org 
 
11 Pateman T. Rural and urban areas: comparing lives using rural/urban classifications. Office for 
National Statistics. Regional Trends 43 2010/11 
 
12 National Energy Action and Calor Gas Ltd. Energy and Equity. Access to Government Programmes 
for Rural and Off Gas Households in England. Joint Policy Briefing. September 2013. Available at: 
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Policy%20and%20Research/Documents/energy-and-equity-
access-to-government-programmes-for-rural-and-off-gas-households-in-england.pdf 
 
13 Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Commission for Rural Communities. A  minimum income 
standard for rural households. November 2010. Available at; 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/minimum-income-standards-rural-full.pdf  
 
12 Wood J. Rural Health and Healthcare: A North West perspective. Institute for Health Research 
Lancaster University.  A Public Health Information Report for the North West Public Health 
Observatory.  Available at: http://www.nwpho.org.uk/reports/ruralhealth.pdf 
 
15 Asthana S, Halliday J, Brigham P Gibson A. Rural deprivation and service need: a review of the 
literature and an assessment of indicators for rural service planning.  South West Public Health 
Observatory. 2002.  Available at: http://www.swpho.org.uk/ruraldep/index.htm 
 

85



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 24 of 26  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
16 British Medical Association. Healthcare in Rural Communities. BMA Board. Available at: 
http://www.expertpatients.co.uk/publications/healthcare-rural-setting-epp-included-bma-
recommendations 
17Welsh Government. Rural Health Plan – Improving Integrated Service Delivery Across Wales. Welsh 
Government. 2009. Available at: 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/health/strategies/ruralhealthplan/?lang=en 
 
18Scottish Government. Delivering for Remote and Rural Healthcare. The Scottish Government. 2008.  
Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Health/Services/Rural-Healthcare 
 
19 DEFRA. Living in Rural Areas.  Rural Health.Data from ONS and the National Centre for Health 
Outcomes Development.  DEFRA 2014.  Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-health 
 
20 Department of Transport and Robert Goodwill MP.  Country roads deadlier than you THINK!. Press 
release. October 14th 2014. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/country-roads-
deadlier-than-you-think 
 
21 Road Safety Foundation. http://www.roadsafetyfoundation.org/news/2014/11/3/how-safe-are-you-
on-britain's-roads-2014-results.aspx 
 
22 BBC News. In-depth review of 2001.  Foot and Mouth: The rural nemesis. 28 December 2001. 
Available at: http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/in_depth/world/2001/review_of_2001/1697976.stm 
Friday, 28 December, 2001, 03:36 GMT 
 
23 The Scottish Government.  Delivering for Remote and Rural Healthcare: The Final Report of the 
Remote and Rural Workstream. May 2008. Available at: 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/05/06084423/14  
 
24 Welsh Assembly Government. Rural Health Plan. Improving integrated service delivery across 
Wales.  December 2009. Available at: 
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/100118ruralhealthplanen.pdf 
 
25 DEFRA, Rural Proofing Guidance. 2013 Available at: https://www.gov.uk/rural-proofing-guidance 
 
26 NHS England. Planning support tools for commissioners to draw on.  January 2014. A Rural Model 
Module. http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/sop/plan-sup-tools/ 
 
27 NHS England. Free Health Check. Explore NHS Health Check Data. Available at; 
http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/interactive_map/ 
 
28 Action with Communities in Rural England.  Available at: http://www.acre.org.uk/ 
 
29 National Council for Voluntary Organisations. Available at: http://www.ncvo.org.uk/ 
 
30 Commission for Rural Communities. Rural Disadvantage Reviewing the Evidence. CRC 2006.  
31 Swan et al quoted in Godden et al. Health and Rurality Digest Issue 12. Contemporary Issues in 
Scottish Rural Health Care. A Briefing Paper.  2007. 
 
32 National Audit Office. Maternity Services in England. Report of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General. HC 794 Session 2013-14 8 November 2013.  Available at: http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2013/11/10259-001-Maternity-Services-Book-1.pdf 
 
33 Adam Todd, Alison Copeland, Andy Husband, Adetayo Kasim, Clare Bambra The positive 
pharmacy care law: an area-level analysis of the relationship between community pharmacy 
distribution, urbanity and social deprivation in England. BMJ Open. August 2014.  Available at: 
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764.full 

86



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 25 of 26  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
34 Houses of Parliament. Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology.  Stroke. Postnote. Number 
459 February 2014. Available at: http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/research/briefing-
papers/POST-PN-459/stroke 
 
35 Ronald MacVicar & Pam Nicoll. NHS Education for Scotland: Supporting Remote and Rural 
Healthcare. NES Board Paper August 2013.  Available at: 
Http://www.rrheal.scot.nhs.uk/media/185252/remote%20and%20rural%20healthcare%20updated.pdf 
 
36 Richard Pugh, Thomas Scharf, Charlotte Williams and Diane Roberts SCIE Research briefing 22: 
Obstacles to using and providing rural social care. Published September 2007.  Available at: 
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/briefing22/ 
 
37 NHS England. Five Year Forward View. October 2014. Available at: http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf 
 
38 Rural Services Network. Can we make rural transport work. Available at: 
http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/analysis/can-we-really-make-rural-transport-work 
 
39 Rural Services network.  The State of Rural Services Report 2013. Available 
at:http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/best-practice/state-of-rural-services-report 
 
40 UK Fixed Broadband Map 2013. Map showing broadband information by administrative authority. 
Available at: http://maps.ofcom.org.uk/broadband/ 
 
41  UK fixed-line broadband performance, November 2013 - The performance of fixed-line broadband 
delivered to UK residential consumers. Available at: 
http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/research/broadband-
research/may2013/Fixed_bb_speeds_May_2013.pdf 
 
42 DEFRA Rural broadband programme.   
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/transforming-uk-broadband/supporting-pages/rural-
broadband-programme 
 
43 Open Signal. United Kingdom Cell Phone coverage Map.  Available at: 
http://opensignal.com/coverage-maps/UK/ 
 
44 National Energy Efficiency Data-Framework. Areas and types of properties off the grid. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/266468/off_gas_grid.pd
f 
 
45 Plunkett Foundation. Press Statement. 2014 Rural Community Ownership Awards. Available at: 
http://www.communityshops.coop/csf-2014/awards 
 
46 Royal Mail says postal deliveries to remote areas under threat. Available at: 
http://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2014/may/22/royal-mail-universal-service-threat-rivals 
 
47 Campaign for Community Banking Services. January 2014. Grave Outlook for Market Towns and 
Suburban High Streets. Available at: http://www.communitybanking.org.uk/ 
 
48 NHS Health Scotland. National Guide on Suicide Prevention in rural areas. Part 2: Reference 
document. Evidence-based approach and case-study examples.  Available at: 
http://www.healthscotland.com/uploads/documents/21002-
SuicidePreventionInRuralAreasReferenceDocument.pdf 
 
 
 

87



PHE/15/01   Appendix 

 

PHE14-01 Rural health - Appendix 1 (20150120).doc  20/01/2015 13:00 Page 26 of 26  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
49 DEFRA, Forestry Commission, Natural England and Rural Payments Agency 
Rural Development Programme for England: outline of new programme. 10 June 2014. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-development-programme-for-england-outline-of-
new-programme/rural-development-programme-for-england-outline-of-new-programme. 
 
50 DCLG. 2012, updated 2014. Giving people more power over what happens in their neighbourhood. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/giving-people-more-power-over-what-happens-in-their-
neighbourhood. 
 
51 Examples of local strategic and developmental work for rural communities 
· Norfolk. Available at: http://www.nsft.nhs.uk/Pages/Rural-isolation-in-Norfolk-and-Suffolk-hits-

mental-health.aspx 
· Lincolnshire. Available at: http://www.lincsruralactivitiescentre.co.uk/catalystfund.php 
· Shropshire. Available at: http://www.shropshire-rcc.org.uk/services/individuals/keep-mobile/ 
· Cornwall. Available at: http://www.cornwall.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/dementia-services-and-

information/memory-cafes-and-other-groups/ 
 
52 Plunkett Foundation. Impact Report.  Our Impact in 2013.  Available at: 
http://www.plunkett.co.uk/resources/publications.cfm 
 
 

88



Enclosure PHE/15/01 

1 
 

 
 
 

PHE Board Paper 
 
 
Title of meeting PHE  Board  
Date Wednesday 28 January 2015 
Presenter  Rashmi Shukla  
Title of paper Rural health – The issues and proposals for PHE engagement 
 
 
1. Purpose of the paper 

 
1.1 The purpose of the paper is to outline existing work to protect and improve health in 

rural areas of England and to agree how best Public Health England can support 
local areas to secure improvements in health.  

  
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 The Board is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on the contents of this paper and the 

recommendations of the invited panel of external experts. It is expected that through 
this discussion, key actions for PHE will be agreed to support rural areas in 
improving health outcomes. 

  
3. Rural Health and Health Services  

 
3.1 
 
 

Introduction 
 
The attached briefing paper at Appendix 1 provides an overview of rural health and 
health services and some current initiatives.  It is not a comprehensive literature 
review, but aims to provide an overview of rural issues, challenges for service 
provision, and to enable the Board to identify areas where PHE may have the most 
impact in supporting local areas. The focus is on England, but draws on work 
undertaken in Wales and Scotland, which have specific challenges of their own. 
 
The focus on rural health came about in response to issues raised by Local 
Authorities in rural areas in the Midlands and East Region, in particular from the 
Directors of Public Health from Shropshire Council, Lincolnshire Council, Suffolk 
Council and Norfolk Council. A working group was set up in the region that agreed 
the key points and proposals, summarised below for PHE to consider in its role in 
supporting rural areas to improve health. (Please see appendix, page 21 for 
membership of the working group). 
 
 
 
 

89



 

 
PHE14-01 Rural health cover paper (20150119-0752).docx  20/01/2015 12:23    Page 2 of 5 

3.2. Overview – Rural Health and Services 
 
Through analysis and discussion by the working group, the following factors were 
identified as important considerations. These relate to indicators and measures of 
deprivation; resource allocation; proofing of products and tools for rural 
communities; specific issues for service delivery; transport, telecommunications and 
utilities and developing communities of interest and expertise. 
 
Rural Indicators and Deprivation   

 
· Rural areas are as diverse as urban areas. They are about 85% of the land 

mass but only 17.6% of the population live in rural areas and 1.1% in sparse 
areas.   

 
· There is a larger proportion of older people and a smaller proportion of young 

adults.  
 
· There are clear inequalities in rural areas, but these are not always obvious as 

they may be small populations living alongside wealthier people, and their 
deprivation ‘masked’.  

 
· Indices such as the Index of Multiple Deprivation may not always be suitable for 

demonstrating inequalities in rural areas as the indices do not include some key 
factors, and may not be sensitive at a ‘small area level’. 

 
· Socio-economic comparisons suggest that on average rural areas are better off 

than urban areas in relation to income, employment, education and crime, but 
not for some factors such as housing affordability and quality, fuel poverty 
access and cost of living. 

 
· Overall health comparisons suggest that on average the health of rural people is 

better than that of people in urban areas, but there are some clear problems 
including the ageing population, road traffic accidents and possibly excess winter 
deaths. 

 
· These comparisons are problematic as it is difficult to distinguish between, for 

example wealthier people who happen to live in rural areas, from people who 
both live and work in rural areas, and are more dependent on the rural economy. 
 

Resource Allocation 
 
· The national Advisory Committee for Resource Allocation (ACRA) formula for 

funding health services and the PH ring fence grant in England may need to be 
looked at in relation to adjustment for additional travel costs in rural areas.   

 
Rural Proofing of Products and Tools 
 
· Service developments should be ‘proofed’ for rural areas to test whether they are 

effective and whether there are alternative means of delivery.  

90



 

 
PHE14-01 Rural health cover paper (20150119-0752).docx  20/01/2015 12:23    Page 3 of 5 

 
· Public health products should be similarly ‘proofed’, and there needs to be 

monitoring of public health initiatives in rural areas. 
 
Service Delivery in Rural Areas 

 
· Health and care services in rural areas may present challenges to access, 

choice and quality, due to issues of distance, access, workforce capacity and 
capability and the spectrum of service provision.   

 
· The NHS England 5-year Forward Look sets out a vision for health service 

development. Rural communities need to be engaged with this work and 
consider how these models could work and be developed in rural areas.   

 
· There are issues around cross-boundary patient flows for rural areas bordering 

Scotland and Wales.  National agreements are in place for health care funding 
but not for local authority commissioned open-access services such as sexual 
health. 

 
Transport, Telecommunications, Utilities and Other Services 
 
· Access to services and infrastructure is a key issue for rural communities. 

Transport links are poor, and while broadband and mobile telephony services 
may be improving they still lag behind urban areas.   

 
Developing Communities of Interest 
 
· There is considerable expertise already in rural areas, and there are central and 

local government initiatives to foster rural engagement and action. Public health 
needs to learn from these initiatives. 

 
3.3 Proposals for PHE to Support Rural Areas 

 
It is proposed that Public Health England could play a part in some or all of the 
areas described below. These are by no means a comprehensive set of issues. It is 
imperative to note that whilst the focus of the discussions with the Directors of 
Public Health has been on the challenges, there were many examples of the assets 
in rural communities that need to be acknowledged and celebrated such as high 
levels of volunteering and social networks.   
 
There are a number of areas proposed for discussion, as follows below.   
 
Rural Deprivation and Rural Indicators 
 
1. Determine whether the current indices of deprivation indicators sufficiently 

capture and describe rural deprivation and whether there should be some 
changes, if so what and how, as part of an aggregate index.  

 
2. Small area analysis methodological development and support for localities for 

91



 

 
PHE14-01 Rural health cover paper (20150119-0752).docx  20/01/2015 12:23    Page 4 of 5 

local use, where there are clear benefits in using this. PHE will consider 
commissioning the Small Area Health Statistics Unit (SAHSU) to help with this 
work, focusing on lower super output areas. 

 
3. Considering some key health and health-related indicators for rural populations, 

and agreeing which ones best reflect rural experience.  These could include: 
road traffic accidents, fuel poverty, and conditions related to older age.  

 
Resource Allocation 
 
4. Considering the application of the Advisory Committee Resource Allocation 

formula to rural areas. There is concern amongst rural DsPH that the costs of 
commissioning and delivering services in rural communities may not be 
sufficiently accounted for in the ACRA calculations.  PHE could consider how the 
variables and weightings used in the formula apply to rural and urban 
populations. 

 
Rural Proofing of products/tools 
 
5. Developing and adopting a ‘rural proofing’ model for public health products and 

tools. Various tools are now available including the DEFRA proofing tool (see 
appendix section 8.1) and the NHS England CCG tool. The issue raised is that 
the advice and support available from PHE is not readily transferable to rural 
settings. For example, what would be the implications of the use of tools 
developed by PHE for improving workplace health in local authorities where 90% 
of businesses have less than 10 employees? 

 
Service Delivery in Rural Areas  
 
6. The development of sustainable service delivery; whether NHS or PH or other 

LA services was a common feature from the discussion with all the DsPH 
involved. National models of service delivery tend to be based on an urban/semi 
urban setting and are less likely to consider or test delivery in sparse rural 
communities.  Rural areas may need different models of service delivery, 
including new models of workforce development to meet needs. 

 
7. Monitoring ageing and other rural population trends and implications for future 

health and care needs. 
 
8. There is opportunity to develop shared understanding in collaboration with NHS 

England with the publication of the Five Year Forward View. This could include 
delivery of prevention/early intervention services such as Making Every Contact 
Count or NHS Health checks, as well as use of the tools for CCGs, how to apply 
rural proofing tool etc. and in the design of health and care services. 

 
9. There are issues of cross-boundary patient flows for services bordering Wales 

and Scotland.  This may be a particular problem for local authority commissioned 
open access services such as sexual health services, where there are no 
national agreements in place for how this is managed. PHE in conjunction with 

92



 

 
PHE14-01 Rural health cover paper (20150119-0752).docx  20/01/2015 12:23    Page 5 of 5 

Local Government Association and Association of Directors Public Health have 
encouraged local areas to develop agreements with authorities in the devolved 
administrations in managing sexual health services and cross charging. 

 
Transport, Telecommunications, Utilities and Other Services 
 
10. There needs to be explicit recognition of the particular challenges in rural areas 

of providing accessible transport. This results in not only isolation for older 
people but also young people. Better support for how to connect communities 
and improve wellbeing specifically targeted at rural communities was raised. 
 

11. More often than not is the added burden of higher levels of people killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic accidents in rural areas. The challenge of 
developing sustainable local travel is a particular issue, despite the many 
opportunities for cycling and walking. 

 
12. Investment in competitiveness and skills tends to lag behind the investments in 

urban areas. The issue of broadband and mobile access is a particular issue.   
 
Developing Communities of Interest 
 
13. Developing a platform for learning from local experience, for sharing rural and 

rural/urban experience specifically for public health outcome improvement. 
 
14. Developing the visibility and engagement of PHE in relation to rural health 

issues, including closer links with stakeholders. 
 

3.4 Summary 
 
Based on the usual indicators used to describe inequalities, there appears to be no 
major disadvantage faced by rural communities as a whole, when compared with 
urban areas.  However, as in urban areas there are some significant inequalities 
within rural communities, which are both difficult to identify and typify.  The current 
indices and datasets may not effectively capture these pockets of deprivation. 
Methodologies such as small area analysis at lower super output 
areas/neighbourhoods will be important to develop, describe and understand the 
health needs of rural communities.  Rural communities may also face challenges of 
access and choice in relation to transport and communications, work opportunities, 
amenities and services, and this needs to be understood in the future development 
of health, wellbeing and care service delivery.  
PHE has a role in supporting the identification of such inequalities and supporting 
local areas in meeting these challenges. 
 

  
Rowena Clayton, Deputy Director, PHE Midlands and East 
Rashmi Shukla, Regional Director, PHE Midlands and East 
January 2015 

93



94



Further information on the subject of this Report is available from 
David Penrose on Tel (01432) 383690 

 

MEETING: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

MEETING DATE: 15 September 2015 

TITLE OF REPORT: Health and Wellbeing Board Work Plan 
REPORT BY: Director of Children’s Wellbeing  

 

 

1. Classification  
 Open 

 

2. Key Decision  

 This is not an executive decision  
 

3. Wards Affected 

 County-wide  

 
4. Purpose 

4.1 To seek the views of the Board and finalise the quarterly forward plan 
 

5. Recommendation 
 

 THAT: The report be noted 
 

 

6. Appendices 
 Appendix 1 - An outline work programme for the Committee. 

 

7. Background Papers 

 None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 13

95



96



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  
 

WORK PLAN 2015/2016 
 

TIMELINE OF ACTIVITIES AND DECISIONS UPDATED 
 
 

September 2015 
 

 
 

DATES 
 

 
BOARD MEETINGS 

 

 

 

10 November 
2015 

• Safeguarding Children – Progress Report 

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy -  Mental Health Services  

• Public Health Commissioning Progress update 

• Update on the HCCG integrated urgent care pathway project 

• BCF Submission Update 
 

20 January 2016 • Progress report on the Engagement Gateway  

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy -  For children, starting well with 
pregnancy, maternal health, smoking in pregnancy, 0-5 immunisations, 
breastfeeding, dental health, pre-school checks, children with disabilities, 
young offenders, young people not in education, employment or training,  
looked after children.  

• BCF Submission Update 

• Care Act Implementation 
 

23 March 2016 • Local Authority Adults and Children’s Well Being Commissioning Plans 
2016/17 

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy -  For older people – quality of life, social 
isolation, fuel poverty 

• CCG Commissioning Plans 2016/17 

• Public Health Annual Report 

• Update on the HCCG integrated urgent care pathway project 
 

May 2016 •  

 
 

97



98


	Agenda
	PUBLICINFORMATION
	4 MINUTES
	8 NHS Herefordshire Hereford Clinical Commissioning Group Commissioning Intentions 2016/17
	CIAttachement1CommissioningIntentionsUpdatev2
	CIAttachment2HWBB1617DraftCI

	12 ITEM FOR INFORMATION
	Final_PH Grant consultation for Herefordshire 27 August 2015
	Appendix 2 Adapting national deprivation indices for rural areas v2
	Appendix 3 PHE14-01 Rural health  (20150120)
	Appendix 4 PHE15-01 Rural health cover paper

	13 Work Programme
	29 Timeline - 2015 to May 2016


